











Flood and coastal erosion risk management research and development framework: working with communities



Project FRS19209/R1

We are the Environment Agency. We protect and improve the environment.

We help people and wildlife adapt to climate change and reduce its impacts, including flooding, drought, sea level rise and coastal erosion.

We improve the quality of our water, land and air by tackling pollution. We work with businesses to help them comply with environmental regulations. A healthy and diverse environment enhances people's lives and contributes to economic growth.

We can't do this alone. We work as part of the Defra group (Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs), with the rest of government, local councils, businesses, civil society groups and local communities to create a better place for people and wildlife.

Published by:

Environment Agency, Horizon House, Deanery Road, Bristol, BS1 5AH

Environment Agency webpage

ISBN: 978-1-84911-475-2

© Environment Agency – April 2021

All rights reserved. This document may be reproduced with prior permission of the Environment Agency.

Email: fcerm.evidence@environment-agency.gov.uk

Further copies of this report are available from our publications catalogue: Government Publications

or our National Customer Contact Centre: T: 03708 506506

Email: enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk

Author(s):

Clare Twigger-Ross, Rolands Sadauskis, Paula Orr, Rebecca Jones, Simon McCarthy, Dennis Parker, Sally Priest and Jonathan Simms.

Dissemination status:

Publicly available.

Keywords:

Adaptation, communities, emergency, engagement, flood and coastal erosion risk management, flood risk management, participation, public, recovery, repair and resilience.

Research contractor:

Collingwood Environmental Planning

Environment Agency's Project Manager: Lydia Burgess-Gamble

Theme Manager: Hayley Bowman

Collaborator(s): Flood Hazard Research Centre

Project number: FRS19209/R1

Research at the Environment Agency

Scientific research and analysis underpins everything the Environment Agency does. It helps us to understand and manage the environment effectively. Our own experts work with leading scientific organisations, universities and other parts of the Defra group to bring the best knowledge to bear on the environmental problems that we face now and in the future. Our scientific work is published as summaries and reports, freely available to all.

This report is the result of research commissioned by the Environment Agency's Research, Analysis and Evaluation group.

You can find out more about our current science programmes at https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/environment-agency/about/research

If you have any comments or questions about this report or the Environment Agency's other scientific work, please contact <u>research@environment-agency.gov.uk</u>.

Professor Doug Wilson Chief Scientist and Director of Research, Analysis and Evaluation

Executive summary

Introduction

The England and Wales Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management (FCERM) strategies published in autumn 2020 identified the important role of communities in helping to manage the risk of flood and coastal erosion. This has driven a demand for research to understand how best to work with communities to:

- manage flood risk assets (structures)
- prepare, respond to and recover from incidents
- take part in decisions, designs and funding for schemes
- manage land to achieve flood risk benefits
- prepare and adapt homes to reduce flood impact
- take part in conversations about long-term adaptation

For these 6 FCERM activities we wanted to understand from existing studies what was already known and to determine the future research needed. To achieve this, we have developed this research and development framework.

What is an R&D framework?

We produce R&D frameworks for specific topics where the demand for applied research is high. The research framework in this report includes:

- detailed literature review
- research gap analysis
- proposals for 12 priority research projects

What did we do?

This report details how we identified and developed the priority projects and how they might be carried out.

The report takes the reader through the following main steps:

- Gathering evidence
 - o literature review
 - o expert interviews
 - o stakeholder workshop
- Assessing the evidence and identifying any gaps
 - o identifying gaps in research
 - o prioritising and developing projects
- Project development
 - 12 research project proposals
- Future implementation and funding

What are the outputs of this framework?

The communities R&D framework includes 4 main outputs:

- literature review report which looks in detail at 6 FCERM activities
- one-page summaries for each FCERM activity which summarises the literature review findings
- research framework report which summarises the process identifying the research gaps and leads to the development of 12 priority project proposals
- science summary

The 12 projects which were prioritised for future research include:

1. Community and volunteer participation in FCERM

- 2. Sustaining effective participation in FCERM
- 3. Improving the flood recovery process
- 4. Landowner and land manager participation in natural flood management
- 5. Emotional and social processes of participation in FCERM
- 6. Community attachment to places affected by climate change
- 7. Improving participation in FCERM decision making
- 8. The role of community flood knowledge in FCERM
- 9. Characteristics of risk management authorities (RMAs) which influence participation in FCERM
- 10. Assessing the costs and benefits of participating in FCERM
- 11. Effective community leadership in FCERM
- 12. Enabling community maintenance for local flood risk management

What are the next steps?

We will use the outputs from the framework to shape existing and future research projects and to prioritise our research funding.

Research frameworks can also help inform our work with Research Councils, enabling us to influence the development of calls for funding by sharing the research needs identified in our frameworks.

Who is the audience?

This work will be used to prioritise and fund further social science research, which will support authorities involved in flood and coastal erosion risk management, including Defra and the Welsh Government, the Environment Agency and Natural Resources Wales, local councils and risk management authorities (RMAs)

Acknowledgements

The authors of this report would very much like to thank all those who have contributed to developing this communities and flood and coastal erosion risk management research and development framework, including:

- Steering group members: Andy Moores (Environment Agency), Cath Beaver (Environment Agency), Chris Curry (Welsh Government), Chris Daw (Welsh Government), Jatinder Singh-Mehmi (Environment Agency), Jessica Phoenix (Defra), Jacqui Cotton (Environment Agency), Kelly McLauchlan (Natural Resources Wales) and Victoria Boorman (London Borough of Hillingdon)
- Interviewees: Prof. Neil Adger (University of Exeter), Dr Tim Harries (University of Kingston), Dr Kerry Waylen (James Hutton Institute), Phiala Mehring (National Flood Forum Vice Chair), Mhari Barnes (National Farmers' Union (NFU)) and Steve Smith (Icarus Collective)
- Workshop attendees: Alex Cutler (Environment Agency), Andy Moores (Environment Agency), Angie Elwin (Reading University), Cath Beaver (Environment Agency), Clare Twigger-Ross (Collingwood Environmental Planning), Glyn Everett (UWE), Hannah Coogan (JBA Consulting), James Brand (Environment Agency), Jatinder Singh-Mehmi (Environment Agency), Jo Higgs (Environment Agency), Keith Marshall (James Hutton Institute), Kelly McLauchlan (Natural Resources Wales), Lydia Burgess-Gamble (Environment Agency), Mags Curry (James Hutton Institute), Mhari Barnes (NFU), Paul Robertson (Groundwork), Paula Orr (Collingwood Environmental Planning), Rebecca Jones (Collingwood Environmental Planning), Rolands Sadauskis (Collingwood Environmental Planning), Simon McCarthy (Middlesex University) and Victoria Boorman (London Borough of Hillingdon)
- **Peer reviewers:** Paul Cobbing and Phiala Mehring (National Flood Forum) and Professor Edmund Penning-Rowsell.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
1.1	Background	1
1.2	Policy context	1
1.3	Research landscape	3
1.4	Definitions	5
1.5	Report structure	6
2	Gathering evidence	8
2.1	Vision and aims	8
2.2	Target audience	9
2.3	FCERM activities	9
2.4	Literature review	10
2.5	Expert interviews	13
2.6	Stakeholder workshop	14
2.7	Outputs from gathering evidence	15
3	Assessing evidence and identifying gaps in research	16
3.1	Assessing evidence	16
3.2	Identifying and analysing gaps in research	16
3.3	Project development, assessment and prioritisation	19
3.4	Peer review	22
3.5	Outputs from the evidence assessment	22
4	Priority projects	23
4.1	Community and volunteer participation in FCERM	23
4.2	Sustaining effective participation in FCERM	25
4.3	Improving the flood recovery process	27
4.4	Landowner and land manager participation in Natural Flood	30
45	Emotional and social processes of participation in ECERM	31
4.6	Community attachment to places affected by climate change	33
4.0	Improving participation in ECERM decision making	34
4.8	The role of community flood knowledge in ECERM	37
4.0	Characteristics of risk management authorities, which influence	01
	participation in FCERM	39
4.10	Assessing the costs and benefits of participating in FCERM	39
4.11	Effective community leadership in FCERM	41
4.12	Enabling community maintenance for local flood risk management	44
5	Rolling out and funding the framework	49
5.1	Potential sources of funding and rollout	49

5.2	Project timings and interdependencies	50
5.3	Rollout and monitoring progress	48
6	Conclusions and next steps	50
Referen	ces	51
Acrony	ms	56

List of tables, figures and boxes

Table 1.1	Relevant research in the EU research programmes	3
Table 1.2	Relevant research in the UK climate resilience programme	4
Table 2.1	FCERM activities	9
Table 2.2	Research questions	10
Table 2.3	High-level summary from literature review	11
Table 3.1	Outcomes from strength of evidence assessment for each FCERM activity	16
Table 3.2	List of gaps idenitfied from the literature review	17
Table 3.3	Project scores against assessment criteria	20
Table 3.4	Results of participant priroitisation in steering group workshop	21
Table 5.1	Sources of funding	49
Figure 1.1	Participation goals	6
Figure 1.2	Structure of the report showing main steps	7
Figure 2.1	Summary of approach	15
Figure 2.2	Steps in gathering the evidence	17
Figure 3.1	Process of gap analysis	17
Figure 3.2	Aims linked to the project	19
Figure 3.3	Steps in assessing evidence and identifying gaps	22
Figure 5.1	Suggeste order for rolling out the projects	51
Figure 6.1	Steps in developing the framework and the main outputs	49
Box 1.1	Extract from Defra's policy statement	6
Box 1.2	Extract from Welsh Government policy statement	8
Box 1.3	Extract from Environment Agency FCERM strategy	17

1 Introduction

This chapter introduces the communities and flood and coastal erosion risk management (FCERM) research and development framework, setting out the:

- policy context
- research landscape
- definitions used in this report

1.1 Background

The Environment Agency, Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra), Natural Resources Wales and the Welsh Government have a joint FCERM research and development programme (referred to as the 'joint programme' in this report)¹, which provides applied research on flood and coastal erosion risk management for all risk management authorities (RMAs) in England and Wales. The outputs from the joint programme inform FCERM policy and practice to better prepare for, protect from and prevent flooding in a changing climate.

This research programme has funded numerous social science research projects over the last 20 years for example:

- Applying behavioural insights to property flood resilience (Behaviour Insights Team, 2020)
- Co-creation of risk communications (Cotton et al, 2014; Orr et al, 2914; Fisher, 2015)
- Collecting flood memories and their role in planning (McEwen et al, 2017)
- Community participation in relation to adaptation on the coast (Kelly and Kelly, 2019)
- Flood volunteers and spontaneous volunteering (O'Brien et al, 2014)
- Institutional frameworks and governance of flooding (Priest et al, 2020)
- Public dialogues and flood risk communication (Fisher, 2015)
- The role of communities in developing resilience to flooding at the local level (Twigger-Ross et al, 2014; Twigger-Ross et al, 2015; McEwen et al, 2018)
- Understanding the uptake of property flood resilience measures (Lamond et al, 2017; 2019)

Given the increasing recognition of the role of communities in FCERM, there is a need to establish where the gaps in our knowledge lie.

The purpose of this research framework is to more systematically review and identify gaps in research, prioritise future research needs and set out main research projects to encourage communities to take part in FCERM.

1.2 **Policy context**

Since 2010 there has been a significant change in how flood and coastal erosion risk is managed, with a greater emphasis placed on RMAs, communities and non-governmental organisations (NGOs) working together to manage flood risk locally. These changes started to happen after the 2007 floods, the subsequent Pitt Review (Pitt, 2008) and the UK government emphasis on 'localism' and the 'big society', whereby citizens and communities were encouraged to become more active in managing their

¹ The programme is run by the Environment Agency, Defra, Welsh Government and Natural Resources Wales and aims to serve the needs of all FCERM authorities in England and Wales.

local area. Since 2010 there have been further flood events which have continued to highlight the central role that communities and RMAs play in managing flood risk.

In 2020, the following 3 documents were published, all placing an emphasis on RMAs, local communities, NGOs and the private sector working together to effectively manage flood and coastal erosion risk to improve resilience:

- Defra's policy statement on FCERM (Defra, 2020) see Box 1.1
- FCERM strategy for England (Environment Agency, 2020)
- FCERM strategy for Wales (Welsh Government, 2020) see Box 1.2

Box 1.1 Extract from Defra's policy statement

"To meet the scale of the challenge ahead we need everyone to play their part – from government to individuals, national and local public bodies, the third and private sectors, local communities and those responsible for key infrastructure. Together we can put in place actions that will build a more resilient future and help to improve health and wellbeing, create economic growth, and enhance our environment." (Defra, 2020, p. 6)

The 25 Year Environment Plan (Defra, 2018) and the FCERM strategies for England and Wales aim to reduce the impacts of flooding and coastal erosion on communities to help enhance their resilience. In Wales, both the Well-being of Future Generations Act (2015) and Planning Act (2015) encourage partnership working, collaboration and a long-term approach.

The FCERM strategy for England describes the need for shared responsibility, placing individual members of the public at the heart of developing solutions to flood risk problems. This strategy includes the following 3 themes, which are used to set out a long-term plan for tackling, preparing for, and adapting to the impacts of climate change:

- Climate resilient places
- Today's growth and infrastructure resilient to tomorrow's climate
- A nation ready to respond and adapt to flood and coastal change

The FCERM strategy for Wales includes the need to understand more about future flood risk, emphasising the roles of adaptation and community participation (see Box 1.2)

Box 1.2 Extract from the Welsh Government policy statement

"We want to encourage RMAs to have conversations with communities around their own management of risk and help them to become more resilient to the impacts of flooding. Closer collaboration between Natural Resources Wales and Local Authorities to develop and engage with communities should become common practice." (Welsh Government, 2020, p.45)

Defra's policy statement (Defra, 2020) reflects the need to move from 'flood risk management' to 'flood resilience' to enable people to live well in the context of flooding.

Participating in FCERM is relevant to individuals and communities in different ways:

- Knowledge focused Developing and contributing knowledge and evidence (for example, by surveying a river in a catchment walkover, checking river gauges, monitoring water quality or collecting data as part of a citizen science project)
- Campaign focused Mobilising action by raising awareness of flooding, taking part in flood planning, or promoting the uptake of local flood warden services

- Physically focused Creating resilient places by building embankments, managing habitat and assets or opening and closing sea gates
- **Virtually focused** Engaging remotely by monitoring or web-related action such as documenting the groups' activities and providing information on web pages

Extending and improving participation is going to be crucial in enabling the new approaches to FCERM set out in the Environment Agency's FCERM strategy (Environment Agency, 2020) see Box 1.3.

Box 1.3 Extract from the Environment Agency FCERM strategy

"People want to have a voice in shaping how resilience to flooding and coastal change is achieved in the places in which they live and work. Risk management authorities need to ensure that people and places are at the heart of local decision making. They also need to invest in the engagement skills needed to take a more inclusive approach to the future challenges flooding and coastal change present." (Environment Agency, 2020, p. 95)

In order for this new approach to be realised, there needs to be further research to extend and improve participation in FCERM.

1.3 **Research landscape**

The current European and UK research landscape can often help fund applied research linked to policy needs. The following section summarises past social science funded by Research Councils.

European research

The EU Horizon 2020 programme (2014 to 2020) and the FP7 programme (2007 to 2014) summarised in Table 1.1 included a limited number of projects related to communities taking part in FCERM activities. Whilst some of the projects were social science led, few had participation at the heart of them.

Table 1.1	Relevant research in the EU Horizon 2020 and FP7 research			
programmes				

Programme	Research project
Horizon 2020	 Improving Resilience to Emergencies through Advanced Cyber Technologies ANYWHERE (EnhANcing emergencY management and response to extreme WeatHER and climate Events)
FP7 Environment	 STAR-FLOOD - STrengthening And Redesigning European FLOOD risk practices: Towards appropriate and resilient flood risk governance arrangements ENHANCE - Enhancing risk management partnerships for catastrophic natural disasters in Europe ESCALATE (Evaluating Social Capital Effects on PoLicy Adaptation to Climate change in Coastal Zones of England) WeSenselT: Citizen Observatory of Water Ground Truth 2.0 Ground Truth 2.0 - Environmental knowledge discovery of human sensed data

The next programme 'Horizon Europe' has 5 main missions, 3 of which could have relevant research:

- Adaptation to climate change, including societal transformation
- Healthy oceans, seas, coastal and inland waters

Climate-neutral and smart cities

As this programme develops, it could potentially help address priority gaps in research identified in this report. It is also a potential source of future funding and rollout.

UK Research Council funded projects

In the UK, the Research Councils are leading funders of research and they may have the potential in the future to support projects that address research gaps identified in this report.

A UK-wide FCERM research strategy, which included social science research themes was developed in 2012 (see: Living with Environmental Change, Moores and Rees, 2012) Apart from research commissioned in response to specific flood events,² there have been few significant Research Council funded programmes focused on the social science side of FCERM. However, the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC) funded 3 projects with a social science component called SESAME, which studied SMEs and flooding,³ Blue-Green cities, which looked at the role of blue-green infrastructure in mitigating flood risk⁴ and Flood Memory.⁵

Fankhauser et al (2019) carried out a review of UK Research Council funded social science and climate change research. They found that across all the Research Councils social science research into FCERM was in the minority (Fankhauser et al, 2019) and they highlighted the following research gaps:

- design of risk reduction policies
- interplay between physical and behavioural responses
- role of finance and insurance
- impact of flooding on business and human welfare

Fankhauser et al (2019) suggest that some of these gaps will be filled by the UK Climate Resilience Programme.⁶ This programme aims to 'enhance the UK's resilience to climate variability and change through frontier interdisciplinary research and innovation on climate risk, adaptation and services, working with stakeholders and end-users to ensure the research is useful and usable.' The 'living with uncertainty' theme within this programme is especially relevant to this research framework because it aims to 'deepen our understanding and explore how these aspects affect our sense of place, identity, decision-making and the potential for new societal environmental configurations' (UK Climate Resilience Programme, 2018, p.8) Within this programme 3 of the 29 projects are related to the issues discussed within this framework (Table 1.2).

Table 1.2 Relevant research in the UK Climate Resilience Programme Title Image: Climate Resilience Programme

Coastal resilience in the face of sea-level rise: making the most of natural systems - Review the current strengths and weakness of shoreline management plans (SMPs) (including liaising with the current SMP2-Refresh). Led by: University of Southampton Mobilising Adaptation: Governance of Infrastructure through Co-Production (MAGIC) will demonstrate and evaluate a community-led approach to reducing flood risk, whilst providing opportunities for urban residents to improve their health and wellbeing, through better engagement with blue and green spaces. Led by: University of Sheffield

² After the Rain – Hull Floods Project after the 2007 floods (Lancaster University) – this was a bid put into the responsive mode for ESRC; The Winter 2013/2014 floods and Policy change (Exeter University) The Summer after the Floods (Birmingham University) both after the 2013/2014 floods via the urgency mechanism.

³ SESAME Organisational Operational Response and Strategic Decision Making for Long Term Flood Preparedness in Urban Areas ran from 2012 to 2015 and was led by the University of Durham.

⁴ Blue-Green Cities ran from 2013 to 2016 and was led by the University of Nottingham.

⁵ ESRC Flood Memories Webpage

⁶ This programme, worth £18.7 million, is a collaboration led by the Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) and the Met Office with the Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC), the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) and the Arts and Humanities Research Council (AHRC)

Title

Mobilising Citizens for Adaptation (MOCA) explores whether and how household or community scale rainwater harvesting (RWH) could reduce flood risk in Hull. Led by: University of Sheffield

The research framework will enable us to proactively share our research needs and gaps with researchers and Research Councils enabling us to:

- engage with Research Councils and seek opportunities to work together on future calls for social science funding
- help shape research proposals being developed by academics

1.4 **Definitions**

Throughout this report, we use terms that can have different meanings, so, for clarity, here are a few definitions we use:

Community

In this report, we use the term 'community' to mean individuals and groups. We recognise that communities are dynamic and have different characteristics that will influence how they take part in FCERM. We don't assume that people living in the same place are automatically part of the same community. An important identifier of a community is the psychological element; whether people feel they belong to a community or not. Communities should be identified by those within rather than assumed by those outside.

Engagement

The term 'community engagement' is often used by institutions and public bodies to refer to their engagement with communities. It is not a term typically used by communities themselves. It can have negative connotations because it can refer to poor engagement, where something is done 'to' the community rather than 'with' them. In this report, we use the term 'participation' instead.

Participation

Participation is defined as the 'act of taking part in an activity or event' (Oxford English Dictionary) it is an umbrella term to cover the different ways in which people might take part in an activity.

Arnstein (1969) developed a 'ladder of participation', which examined the top-down approach to public engagement in the planning process. This approach is set out in a range of public participation activities developed by the International Association for Public Participation. It does not, however, enable members of the public to initiate the activity.

Participation can only become 'two-way' if communities can initiate actions. Figure 1.1 provides a more participative approach, where a range of people, including community members can initiate action. This research framework suggests alternative definitions of participation to help encourage effective participation in FCERM activities.

Figure 1.1 Participation goals for the initiator of activities

Participation goals for the initiator of activities:

Inform – to provide others with balanced and objective information to help them understand the problem, alternatives, opportunities and/or solutions.

Consult - to obtain feedback on analysis, alternatives and/or decisions.

Involve – to work directly with others throughout the process to ensure that all concerns and aspirations are consistently understood and considered.

Collaborate – to partner with others in each aspect of the decision making, including developing alternative solutions and identifying the preferred solution.

Empower – to place final decision making in the hands of people other than those initiating the process.

1.5 **Report structure**

This chapter has provided an introduction to the communities and FCERM research framework. It has set it within its policy and research landscape context and provided some definitions of the main terms used throughout this report.

The report is structured into 5 chapters as set out in Figure 1.2. This includes:

- chapter 2, which describes the evidence gathering stage of the project, covered in detail in the accompanying literature review and one-page summaries which look in detail at the following 6 FCERM activities:
 - managing flood risk assets (structures)
 - o preparing, responding to and recovering from incidents
 - o taking part in decisions, designs and funding for schemes
 - o managing land to achieve flood risk benefits
 - o preparing and adapting homes to reduce flood impact
 - o taking part in conversations about long-term adaptation
- chapter 3 describes how research gaps were identified and prioritised
- chapter 4 describes 12 research projects that need to be carried out to address the research gaps
- chapter 5 makes suggestion on how to rollout and fund the projects described in chapter 4

Figure 1.2 Structure of the report showing main steps in developing the framework and the main outputs



2 Gathering evidence

This chapter describes the different steps taken to develop the initial evidence base to inform the development of the communities and FCERM research framework. This chapter sets out:

- vision and aims
- target audience
- FCERM activities included
- literature review
- expert interviews
- stakeholder workshop

This research framework was developed in stages (see Figure 2.1)

Figure 2.1 Summary of approach to developing framework



2.1 Vision and aims

The overall vision for the communities and FCERM R&D framework is to develop a comprehensive programme of research and development so that communities, RMAs and other organisations can work better together to:

- manage flood risk assets
- prepare for, respond to and recover from incidents
- take part in decisions, designs and funding for schemes

- manage land to achieve flood risk benefits
- prepare and adapt homes to reduce flood impact
- take part in conversations about long-term adaptation

The aims of the research and development framework are to:

- improve institutions' understanding of how communities, RMAs and other organisations can work together to improve resilience and adapt in the face of the increased risk of flooding and coastal erosion caused by climate change (Institutions)
- evaluate and support improvements in the effectiveness of working together on FCERM from the perspectives of communities, RMAs and other organisations (for example, NGOs) (Effectiveness)
- support the development of more comprehensive approaches to participation that recognise that the capacity of different communities to become involved in flood risk management will vary (Community capacity)

Each of these aims link to the proposed projects presented in chapter 4.

2.2 **Target audience**

There is a range of audiences that may be interested in this framework, for example:

- academics
- FCERM practitioners in the public sector and local authorities
- internal drainage boards
- members of communities
- NGOs working in FCERM
- policy makers in government
- Research Councils
- water companies

2.3 **FCERM activities**

This research framework focuses on 6 specific FCERM activities (see Table 2.1), which individuals, groups, RMAs and other organisations take part in. Defra and the Environment Agency identified these 6 activities as areas where communities and RMAs interact. The literature review which underpins this research framework focused in detail on these 6 activities.

Table 2.1 FCERM activities

FCERM activities		What it covers
1.	Managing flood risk assets	Watercourse maintenance activities, such as making sure ditches and culverts are cleared of obstructions, looking after channels, repairs to bunds and FCERM measures and monitoring river levels and assets.
2.	Preparing for, responding to and recovering from incidents	Preparedness - issuing flood warning and flood forecasting, developing and implementing local community emergency flood plans.

FCERM activities		What it covers
		Response - using volunteers, flood stores and flood wardens, setting up rest centres Recovery - supporting communities and individuals through the recovery process
3. Taki desi sche	ng part in decisions, gns and funding for emes	Communities are involved in both developing and funding FCERM schemes. This includes how communities take part in deciding what types of schemes are appropriate to address a specific problem.
4. Man flood	aging land to achieve I risk benefits	Communities are engaged in how land is managed to achieve flood risk benefits such as through natural flood management (NFM) and land management funded through Countryside Stewardship schemes.
5. Prep hom impa	earing and adapting es to reduce flood acts	Property flood resilience - the measures that communities and individuals can put in place to reduce the impacts of floods.
6. Taki conv term	ng part in ⁄ersations about long- adaptation	Long-term adaptation specifically related to coastal erosion and sea level rise. It also includes developing FCERM strategies.
term	adaptation	strategies.

2.4 **Literature review**

The literature review was carried out in stages, an initial desk-based review of the literature was then supplemented by expert interviews, which were used to help shape and expand the findings of the desk-based review.

Developing the research questions

Seven research questions were developed (see Table 2.2) to help focus the literature review. The project team reviewed literature across the following 6 FCERM activities:

- managing flood risk assets (structures)
- preparing, responding to and recovering from incidents
- taking part in decisions, designs and funding for schemes
- managing land to achieve flood risk benefits
- preparing and adapting homes to reduce flood impact
- taking part in conversations about long-term adaptation

The literature review combined expert input from the project team with dedicated electronic searches of the Scopus⁷ database. We also reviewed grey literature from Defra/Environment Agency past projects. Most of the reviewed literature was from UK sources and from between 2009 and 2020. Exceptions were made for important papers cited by our expert interviewees. The literature review is published as a standalone document (Twigger-Ross et al, 2020).

Table 2.2Research questions

Question #	Research questions
1	To what extent and in what ways are members of the public participating in the 6 FCERM activities across all sources of flood and coastal erosion?
	 Who is participating in these activities? How are they participating? Why are they participating? How sustained is their participation? What activities are they carrying out?

⁷ Scopus is a bibliographic database containing abstracts and citations for academic journal articles - www.scopus.com

Question #	Research questions
2	 What are the barriers and facilitators to members of the public participating in the 6 FCERM activities across all sources of flood and coastal erosion? What are the individual/psychological barriers and facilitators to members of the public participating? What are the social/institutional barriers and facilitators to members of the public participating? What are the material barriers and facilitators to members of the public participating?
3	What approaches/models of participation encourage/discourage members of the public participating in the 6 FCERM activities across all sources of flood and coastal erosion?
4	What types of governance and institutional arrangements facilitate or inhibit members of the public's participation in the 6 FCERM activities across all sources of flood and coastal erosion?
5	What are the costs and benefits (to communities and RMAs) of members of the public participating in the 6 FCERM activities across all sources of flood and coastal erosion? Why do communities and RMAs consider participation by communities in the 6 FCERM activities across all sources of flood and coastal erosion to be important/not important in tackling flood and coastal erosion?
6	What are the similarities and differences in members of the public participating across the 6 FCERM activities and all sources of flooding and coastal erosion?
7	What are the main gaps in the evidence across the research questions? Which gaps, if filled, would improve members of the public's participation across the 6 FCERM activities and all sources of flooding and coastal erosion?

Findings from the literature review

The literature review is a standalone report published alongside this framework, the main gaps identified from this review are summarised in Table 2.3. We have also developed one-page summaries for each of the FCERM activities covered in the literature review.

Table 2.3	High-level	summary	y from	literature	review
-----------	------------	---------	--------	------------	--------

FCERM activity	What do we still need to understand?
Managing flood risk assets	We do not have a comprehensive list of the groups that are currently managing flood assets, what they do, how they are organised and how successful they have been. Some RMAs are coordinating the work of a few self-help groups, but we do not know how widespread this is or what approaches other RMAs are taking.
	We need research on the relationship between communities and farmers with respect to managing flood assets located on private land. There are few examples of how farmers who wish to take responsibility for assets on their own land can work with local residents and RMAs.
	We need a better understanding of volunteers' experience of participation in asset management as the basis for developing guidance for community groups and other volunteers. This should cover both the practical work involved in maintaining assets of different kinds and for different types of flood risk (for example, inland watercourses, flood defence structures, coastal flood gates) as well as the formation and organisation of flood groups (for example, organisational structures, working with RMAs, training and skills development)
	Better evidence of the asset management activities that local groups are carrying out and their effectiveness would enable RMAs to assess the cost

FCERM activity	What do we still need to understand?
	effectiveness of different approaches to supporting the work of local flood groups. There is also a need to better understand how RMAs can overcome barriers to participation to avoid the emphasis on 'community flood resilience' leading to inequalities between places in terms of flood resilience practice.
Preparing for, responding to and recovering from incidents	 We do not know whether what is suggested above applies to all types of flooding (fluvial, surface water and coastal) and to coastal erosion. We do not know enough about how to successfully encourage participation in communities: in flood areas, where the risk is very infrequent but the consequences may be significant (including those living in areas already protected where some flood risk remains) where community identity is unclear to those living in it that experience deprivation on one or more levels to encourage businesses to participate where participation has been limited or non-existent in the past We need to understand much more about how people participate in flood recovery; the mental, physical and financial problems they experience, the barriers to rapid recovery and how to reduce them.
	We need to understand more about what makes good leadership which encourages successful community participation, leading to greater flood resilience, and what is likely to sustain participation over time.
Taking part in decisions, designs, and funding for schemes - What do we still need to understand?	What are the opportunities for individuals and groups to participate in FCERM scheme decision-making? This is an identified gap in the research evidence. The limited research carried out implies that there is little evidence of this type of participation. As a result, whilst consultation is a core part of the process of developing FCERM schemes, there is little research on how those opportunities are used by individuals and groups and how they can be improved. It is an area where it is thought there is considerable experience, yet it has not been drawn together and systematically examined with a view to improving the processes.
Managing land to achieve flood risk benefits	There is a need to better understand people's preferences towards different FCERM measures and their perception of the costs and benefits (Everett and Lamond, 2013) More knowledge is required to mainstream blue-green infrastructure, how long this takes and how it can be encouraged (Everett and Lamond, 2014) Similarly, there is a gap in knowledge about how farmers become involved in decision making about NFM schemes. In addition, more needs to be understood about the tools and approaches that flood authorities need to help engage and work with farmers and landowners (Boeuf and Fritsch, 2016) There is also a lack of evidence of the complexities of engaging upstream and downstream communities together.
	The research indicates a need to better understand how to introduce and communicate uncertainty with land managers in the context of blue-green infrastructure as a measure that will reduce, but not prevent flooding.
Preparing and adapting homes to reduce flood impacts	 Five main gaps arose from the evidence review, workshops and expert interviews: At what point do the positive aspects of having the property flood resilience (PFR) measures in place (for example, increased feeling of security or ability to stay living in a beautiful environment) outweigh the negative psychological costs such as being reminded that one is at risk? What is the role of emotions and social identities in increasing participation in PFR schemes and uptake during the reinstatement and recovery phase? How can approaches be developed that enable PFR to be part of a positive adaptive approach to managing flood risk? How does the experience of flooding affect the idea of home as a safe place, in the context of the uptake of water entry measures?

FCERM	What do we still need to understand?
activity	
	 How does a sense of responsibility and a desire to take action develop among people living in flood risk areas? People need to believe they can act and that the actions they take will be effective. Are there psychological impacts of having to sustain property resilience measures over the long term? How do perceptions of who is responsible for protecting properties (particularly in rented properties and businesses) affect the uptake and effectiveness of measures and what should owners, buyers and renters be told about flood risk and their roles and responsibilities?
Taking part in conversations about long- term adaptation	Research is needed into the challenges associated with adapting to severe climate change impacts, particularly where communities face potential relocation (Kelly and Kelly, 2019) Research is needed into how to change expectations of responsibilities for managing coastal flood and erosion risks (Maiden et al, 2017)
	Better understanding of the benefits (and costs) of public participation in long- term adaptation, particularly the benefits (and costs) for communities themselves is needed. The evidence of costs and benefits of public participation in long-term adaptation was disjointed and sometimes contradictory. For example, public participation boosts collaborative decision- making, which is thought to be beneficial for long-term adaptation but, in some cases, high levels of public participation prevented adaptive approaches to FCERM being taken (Young et al, 2014) In this example, underlying socio- economic issues existed that made the adaptation option unacceptable to the community (Young et al, 2014) RMAs could benefit from a better understanding of how issues such as these influence communities' willingness to engage with long-term adaption and how to manage this in the future.

2.5 Expert interviews

Expert interviews were conducted alongside the literature review to help draw out additional sources of literature that may have been missed during the desk-based review. We interviewed 7 experts who provided additional information and references, and incorporated this evidence into developing this research framework.

Important themes that came out of the expert interviews included:

- importance of considering the costs to communities, as well as to RMAs, of engaging in FCERM. For example, the costs to the public include time to be involved in formal consultations and informal participation. There are also financial costs to homeowners and farmers/landowners from purchasing floodgates and insurance or installing blue-green infrastructure
- there is a need for those who are responsible for implementing FCERM measures to have strong communication skills. Two-way discussions and more creative and interactive participation methods, such as role-playing activities, can help communities participate more
- there are many psychological factors that influence a community's ability or willingness to participate in FCERM. For example, perceiving that flooding could directly affect their lives and/or livelihoods in the future can increase a community's interest in participating. Engaging in FCERM can also have negative psychological costs to communities. It is important to understand where/when the negative psychological costs (for example, increased anxiety about flood risk)

outweigh the positive psychological costs (for example, installing PFR can lead to an increased feeling of security)

- lack of awareness of flood risk was repeatedly reported as a barrier to communities participating in FCERM. However, awareness of current and future risk can also cause anxiety, especially when taking part in conversations about long-term adaptation
- an individual's personality and their existing engagement in other community activities (for example, parish councils/town councils) were also noted to have an impact on their likelihood of participating in FCERM

Alongside these interviews, throughout the project we discussed the development of this research framework with the National Flood Forum to gain their valuable input as the voice of flooded communities. This enabled us to check that the evidence we had collated was comprehensive and the research questions and gaps identified needed to be addressed.

2.6 Stakeholder workshop

A stakeholder workshop was also held to consult and engage a range of organisations in developing this research framework.

During the workshop, the participants shared their knowledge of research and practice of community participation for the 6 FCERM activities and they:

- reflected on how the findings from the literature review fit with their own experience
- discussed gaps in research and potential research needs
- identified the sort of evidence that could address research gaps

The participants highlighted a range of research needs, including the need for more evidence of the scale at which communities get involved in asset management and the consequences of working at different spatial scales to communities.

Some of the findings from the literature review resonated strongly with the experience of workshop participants. For example, the evidence that existing participation approaches typically attract skilled people (often retired) from higher socio-economic backgrounds. This raised an additional research need to help understand how to better work with the most vulnerable (for example, deprived) and ethnically/culturally diverse communities. The workshop participants suggested that there is a lack of evidence of the complexities of engaging communities across whole catchments.

The workshop also explored how to communicate effectively with land managers on natural flood management (NFM) when NFM measures will often reduce flood risk but not eradicate it completely. The participants also highlighted the issue of trust - it takes time to build trust, so RMAs need to recognise that as communities change they will have to make ongoing efforts to build trust and reflect this in the way they work with those communities.

Participants also noted that the nature of a partnership can vary (positively and negatively) according to the different people involved in a partnership.

The workshop participants provided feedback on the list of gaps prepared before the meeting. They noted that it is difficult to integrate measures of non-financial costs and benefits into practice/decision-making and this could be a potential research gap. The participants also identified the need for research into multi-agency flood responses.

Finally, the participants were then asked to prioritise the identified research gaps using the <u>MoSCoW⁸</u> method. The outcome of this exercise is included in the overall project assessment discussed in the following chapter.

2.7 **Outputs from gathering the evidence**

This chapter has described how we collated the evidence to inform the development of this research framework. These steps are summarised in Figure 2.2 below. More detail on this stage of the project can be obtained from 2 other documents published alongside this framework:

- Literature review
- Summary document that provides one-page summaries of the science for 6 FCERM activities.

The next chapter will describe how research gaps were identified and prioritised.

Figure 2.2 Steps in gathering evidence and main outputs



⁸ The method is commonly used to help key stakeholders understand the significance of initiatives in a specific release. The acronym, MoSCoW, stands for 4 different categories of initiatives: must-haves, should-haves, could-haves, and will not have at this time.

3 Assessing evidence and identifying gaps in research

This chapter describes the different steps taken to assess the evidence presented in chapter 2 to help identify gaps in research and develop research proposals. This chapter:

- assesses the evidence
- identifies and analyses gaps in research
- identifies, assesses and prioritises projects

3.1 Assessing evidence

As part of developing this framework, the project team assessed the strength of the evidence for each of the 6 FCERM activities against each of the 5 research questions described in chapter 2 (Table 2.2)

The evidence was assessed using a red, amber and green traffic light system:

- Green 3 or more studies which either agree with or build on each other, forming a clear body of work with findings that could be translated into practical action for RMAs.
- Amber 3 or more studies focused on the same area of research but didn't necessarily build on past research. Findings need more verification and there needs to be greater connection between past research.
- **Red** Less than 2 empirical studies in the area, which don't build on each other and provide very limited findings. Needs more basic research.

Table 3.1 summarises the results of this evidence assessment and shows that for each of the FCERM activities and research questions there are few instances of extensive past research which address all of the research questions. The 2 areas with the greatest strength of evidence are FCERM activities 2 and 4.

Table 3.1Outcomes from strength of evidence assessment for each FCERMactivity

FC	ERM activity	RQ1	RQ2	RQ3	RQ4	RQ5
1.	Managing flood risk assets					
2.	Preparing for, responding to and recovering from incidents					
3.	Taking part in decision, designs and funding for schemes					
4.	Managing land to achieve flood risk benefits					
5.	Preparing and adapting homes to reduce flood impact					
6.	Taking part in conversations about long-term adaptation					

3.2 Identifying and analysing gaps in research

Following on from the evidence assessment, the next stage of the project involved identifying and analysing the gaps in research described in Figure 3.1.





Research gaps were identified through the:

- literature review
- expert interviews
- knowledge from the project team
- outputs from a past Environment Agency/Defra workshop run in 2019

These gaps were then collated into a single list of research gaps (see Table 3.2), which were presented to a range of stakeholders at a workshop in March 2020.

Table 3.2 List of gaps identified from the literature review

Re	search gaps
1.	Systematic identification and evaluation of individual members of the public and groups working with RMAs in England and Wales - Who is participating? How are they participating? How effective is the participation? How can successes and challenges be shared and built upon?
2.	Sustaining participation - What does 'sustained participation' look like for all types of activity? What are the influencing factors and how can participation be resilient? How do people get involved and stay involved in flood groups?
3.	Flood recovery - How are individual members of the public and groups engaging in flood recovery? What types of activities and actions are they carrying out? How can those activities be supported to increase personal resilience within the recovery process, particularly for people who are temporarily relocated? How can those who are most vulnerable be supported?
4.	Farmers' and landowners' participation in FCERM - How do farmers make decisions about natural flood management? What are the factors that contribute to their decision-making? How do farmers work with communities around asset maintenance? What tools

Re	search gaps
	and approaches do RMAs need to improve participation with farmers and landowners, specifically, around natural flood management.
5.	The role of emotions and identities (individual and group) in participation - How do emotions, personal and social identities influence participation? What are the psychological challenges associated with place detachment? Forming attachments to altered or completely different places is an aspect of climate change adaptation - how does this affect participation in conversations about long-term adaptation?
6.	Managing the emotional aspects of flooding for professionals - How do professionals (for example, loss adjustors, surveyors, builders) become engaged in property flood resilience and reinstatement. What training and support might be appropriate for RMAs and others to help them work effectively with individual members of the public and groups during recovery?
7.	Influence of participation on FCERM decision-making schemes, strategies and long-term adaptation - What influence do individual members of the public and groups have on FCERM decisions? How do different types of participation (from consultation to co-creation) really influence FCERM decision-making? What are the mechanics of those processes and whose views are represented?
8.	The role of community flood knowledge - What role can/does community flood knowledge play? To what extent is community flood knowledge considered and how does it influence decisions taken? How do communities learn about flood risk and how can that enable participation in assessment and modelling by RMAs?
9.	Links between formal statutory consultation processes/wider political processes and local participation in FCERM activities - What are the links between statutory processes and participation in FCERM activities, for example, within the planning systems or for flood schemes? How do these two interact? How can they complement each other and how does trust in one relate to action in another?
10.	Characteristics of RMAs that influence participation in FCERM activities - What are the characteristics of institutions (for example, RMAs) that facilitate/inhibit participation with individual members of the public and groups? How do organisational cultures including language used by RMAs facilitate or inhibit participation across the FCERM activities? What is the role of trust? What are the specific issues for NFM?
11.	Decision-making in flood recovery - How are decisions made by the insurance industry and the related professionals during flood recovery and when insurance is bought by members of the public? How are members of the public and communities involved in those processes?
12.	Cost and benefits of participation. What are the financial costs and benefits of participation for individual members of the public and groups and RMAs? How to evaluate costs and benefits of the different activities? What is the value given to this work by the local community, the Environment Agency and other RMAs and by the individuals involved?

The workshop participants prioritised this list of gaps using the MoSCoW method, which resulted in:

- all groups at the workshop listing gap 2 'sustaining participation' as an area that must be addressed
- two of the three groups listed gap 3 'flood recovery', gap 7 'influence of participation on FCERM decision making' and gap 8 'role of community flood knowledge' as research gaps that must be addressed

 gap 12 'the costs and benefits of participation' was rated a top priority by Environment Agency staff, but the researchers and academics had it as the least important

3.3 **Project development, assessment and** prioritisation

Project development

The research gaps described in section 2.3 were then turned into 12 research project proposals which are described in detail in chapter 4. The final list of projects is shown in Figure 3.2.





Figure 3.2 shows how each of the proposed projects links back to the 3 main aims of this research framework:

- Improve institutions' understanding of how communities, RMAs and other organisations can work together to improve resilience and adapt in the face of the increased risk of flooding and coastal erosion from climate change (Institutions)
- Evaluate and support improvements in the effectiveness of working together in FCERM from the different perspectives of communities, RMAs and other organisations (for example, NGOs) (Effectiveness)
- Support the development of an all-encompassing approach to participation which recognise place-based issues that differentiate communities' capacity to take on local responsibilities for flood risk management. To develop a community of practice of community members, RMAs, other organisations, researchers to share and engage in research and development of FCERM activities (Community capacity)

Project assessment

Each of the 12 projects were assessed by the project team against 9 criteria:

- Clear business need/ask (alignment with the objectives and priorities of Defra/Environment Agency/Natural Resources⁹)
- 2. 'Quick win' possible to translate knowledge into practical action)
- 3. Addresses multiple community participation activities
- 4. Is of relevance to FCERM policy influencing factors¹⁰
- 5. Prioritised by project workshop participants (the gap was considered as a priority 'must have' or 'should have' by participants in the March 2020 stakeholder workshop)
- 6. Relevance of outputs to a range of stakeholders
- 7. Potential to attract funding from outside Defra/Environment Agency
- 8. Inequalities impact (addressing issues relevant to the participation of deprived areas or groups)
- 9. Geographical extent of impact

Table 3.3 shows the results of this assessment when each project was assessed against each of these criteria where they are given a score of high (H), 'medium (M) or low (L)

Table 3.3	Project scores	against	assessment	criteria
-----------	----------------	---------	------------	----------

Project title	C1:Business need	C2: Quick win	C3: Multiple areas	C4: Policy drivers	C5: Workshop	C6:S/H interest	C7: Funding	C8: Inequalities	C9: Geog extent.
1. Effectiveness of community participation	Н	Μ	Н	Н	L	Н	Μ	Н	Н
2. Sustaining participation	Н	Μ	Н	Н	Н	Н	Μ	Н	Н
3. Improving the recovery process	Н	Μ	М	Н	Н	Н	L/M	Н	Н

⁹ For example, Environment Agency Asset Management Effectiveness Programme, Environment Agency Asset Management Strategy to 2022, Environment Agency Flood Incident Management Action Plan and Road Map, Shoreline Management Plan Review); National Infrastructure Commission National Infrastructure Assessment (2018); Defra Group Strategy: Creating a Better Place for Living (2018)

¹⁰ For example, UK climate change policy (Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017, UK National Adaptation Plan 2018, Welsh Government Climate Change Adaptation Delivery Plan for Wales 2019); Wales sustainability policy (Well-being of future generations (Wales) Act 2015); Environment policy (UK 25 Year Environment Plan

Project title	C1:Business need	C2: Quick win	C3: Multiple areas	C4: Policy drivers	C5: Workshop	C6:S/H interest	C7: Funding	C8: Inequalities	C9: Geog extent.
4. Landowner/manager participation in NFM	Н	Н	L	Н	М	Н	L	L	Н
5. Emotional and social processes of participation	M	L	Н	Μ	М	М	Μ	М	Н
6. Place attachment and climate changing places	Н	L	L	М	N/A	M	Н	М	Н
7. Participation in decision-making	Н	М	Н	Н	Н	Н	Μ	М	Н
8. Community flood knowledge	M	L	Н	Μ	Н	Н	Μ	М	Н
9. RMA characteristics and participation	Н	М	Н	Н	Μ	Н	Μ	Н	Н
10. Assessing costs and benefits	M	L	М	Н	Μ	М	L	L	Н
11. Effective community leadership	Н	М	Н	Н	N/A	Η	M	Η	Н
12. Enabling community maintenance for local flood risk management	Η	Η	М	Н	NA	H	L	L	Н

As can be seen from this table, most projects scored high for most of the criteria. Projects 2, 3, 7, 9 and 11 scored the highest across all the criteria. Most of the projects have high scores for the 'policy drivers' and 'stakeholder interest' criteria.

Projects generally had lower scores for criteria 7 'Potential for accessing funding from sources outside Defra,' criterion 2 'quick wins' and criterion 8 'inequalities.' Some projects scored low against the 'inequalities' criteria. This is because the projects focus on operational challenges of providing guidance to volunteers taking part in maintaining FCERM assets and mechanisms for farmers to work with communities and other stakeholders on NFM.

Four of the five projects (Projects 2,3,9 and 11) that score most highly across all the criteria also score highly on their inequalities impact. Including these projects early in the programme could help to demonstrate the value of considering inequalities in project design.

Three projects have the lowest scores across all the criteria, these are:

- project 4 Landowner/manager participation in NFM
- project 5 Emotional processes of participation
- project 10 Costs and benefits of participation

Project prioritisation

As part of the development of this research framework, the project's steering group was asked to rank its top priority projects to help define the order in which they should be rolled out. Project 12 was not included in this exercise because it already had a potential funding route through the Construction, Industry Research and Information Association (CIRIA) and a lead local flood authority (LLFA) Table 3.4 shows the priority order that the steering group recommended. There is some consensus between the top 5 prioritised during this exercise and the top 5 prioritised during the workshop.

Table 3.4 Results of participant prioritisation in steering group workshop

Project (short title)	% of respondents (number)	Part of top 5 from the prioritisation process
Project 7. Participation in decision-making	100% (8)	Yes

Project (short title)	% of respondents (number)	Part of top 5 from the prioritisation process
Project 1. Effectiveness of community participation	88% (7)	No
Project 10. Assessing costs and benefits	88% (7)	No
Project 9. RMA characteristics and participation	75% (6)	Yes
Project 2. Sustaining participation	50% (4)	Yes
Project 3. Improving the recovery process	50% (4)	Yes
Project 5. Emotional and social processes of participation	25% (2)	No
and Project 6 Place attachment and climate changing places		
Project 4. Landowner/manager participation in NFM	13% (1)	No
Project 8. Community flood knowledge	13% (1)	No
Project 11. Effective community leadership	0% (0)	Yes

3.4 **Peer review**

As the research framework was developed, we discussed its development with the National Flood Forum to gain their valuable input as the voice of flooded communities. Paul Cobbing and Phiala Mehring from the National Flood Forum peer reviewed the draft research framework.

We also gained invaluable input from Professor Edmund Penning-Rowsell who also acted as an independent peer reviewer.

This peer review process enabled us to check that the evidence we had collated was comprehensive and the research questions and gaps identified definitely needed to be addressed.

3.5 **Outputs from the evidence assessment**

This chapter has described how we assessed evidence, identified gaps and prioritised the research projects. Steps are summarised in Figure 3.3 below.

Figure 3.3 Steps in assessing evidence and identifying gaps



4 Priority projects

This chapter takes the 12 projects prioritised in chapter 3 and describes these in detail. Each project is presented in a consistent format so that it could be taken and used to inform the development of a business case to obtain funding or to inform calls for research funding.

4.1 Community and volunteer participation in FCERM

Project summary

Few of the organisations involved in engaging individuals and groups in FCERM systematically collect data on this participation. Lack of data on this topic means that organisations do not have a full picture of community and volunteer participation in different areas of FCERM. This data could help to answer questions such as:

- What are the characteristics of the individuals and groups that currently participate in FCERM?
- What activities and types of flood risk do they get involved in?
- What are the results of their involvement?

Understanding that community and volunteer participation is dynamic, changing with the local needs for FCERM activities, this project would also set up a network of FCERM community activities, linking up different communities and their RMAs/other organisations.

The project could have 3 strands of activity:

- The first will focus on collecting quantitative and qualitative information on volunteer and community participation in FCERM across England and Wales. This will update, build on and expand previous work on flood volunteering for the Environment Agency ('Investigating and appraising the involvement of volunteers in achieving FCERM outcomes', carried out by Forest Research) This will provide quantitative data on basic aspects of FCERM participation, including the number of people involved, their geographical distribution, distribution by socio-economic characteristics such as age, gender, ethnicity, their areas of activity and the types of flood risk covered. The project will consider where qualitative data could add the greatest value and which research methods would be best suited for collecting this data. This strand will examine experiences of collecting and managing data on community and volunteer participation in other fields and develop a data collection and management system that can be trialled.
- The second strand will develop a network of FCERM community activities, linking up different communities and their RMAs/other organisations. The aim of this is to be able to collect, share and evaluate evidence, facilitate peer-topeer learning and share skills. The project will also set up some specific Learning and Action Alliances (LAAs)¹¹ to tackle important participation challenges.
- The third strand will provide an approach for evaluating FCERM community and volunteer participation. This will need to assess the activities volunteers

¹¹ "A Learning and Action Alliance is a social learning framework and structure for collaborative working between a group of individuals or organisations with a shared interest in innovation and implementing change. Within LAAs participants work together to understand a problem and its possible solutions through discussion. LAAs enable two-way communication and co-production of knowledge between academic, institutional and industry stakeholders.

Project summary

carry out, the results of this activity, the range of benefits provided and any gaps or weaknesses. The assessment would compare results across types of flood risk and activities and could potentially look at other aspects, depending on the priorities agreed by the partners' organisations. The approach would be used to develop a baseline assessment of FCERM participation.

Creating a network of community and volunteer participation in FCERM will help provide the evidence for analysis, evaluation and learning to increase and improve flood volunteering and participation. Community flood groups will be able to use the data to target local initiatives and to support peer-to-peer learning; RMAs will draw on it to develop effective volunteering activities for specific groups of volunteers.

Objectives

- Develop and consolidate a system for collecting data on volunteer participation in FCERM that will increase understanding of who volunteers, for which types of activities and flood risk, and with what results.
- Develop a network of FCERM community activities, linking up different communities and their RMAs/other organisations.
- Establish up to 5 Learning and Action Alliances around specific participation challenges.
- Assess the effectiveness of volunteer participation for all those involved (members of communities, RMAs and NGOs).
- Draw out successes and challenges of volunteer participation from the perspective of individual volunteers, communities and RMAs.
- Develop principles and guidance for communities and authorities to improve volunteer participation in FCERM.

Outputs

- Evidence on FCERM participation, including quantitative data on basic aspects of FCERM participation (such as the number of people involved, their geographical distribution, distribution by socio-economic characteristics such as age, gender, ethnicity, their areas of activity and the types of flood risk covered) and some qualitative data to be agreed by project partners.
- Network of FCERM participation activities across England and Wales, together with LAAs to tackle specific participation challenges.
- Evaluation of effectiveness, successes and challenges of flood volunteering in England and Wales.
- Principles and guidance on flood volunteering for flood authorities and communities.

Impact

The project will improve the relationships between communities and RMAs. It will increase information available on how communities are working with RMAs and other organisations in FCERM activities, which, in turn, improve ways of working.

Types of research (Y/N)									
Basic:	Ν	Applied:	Y	Developme	Υ				
				nt:					
Disseminat	Υ	Training:	Ν	Implement	Υ				
ion:				ation:					

Research end users (Y/N)									
Government depts/agencies:	Y	Risk management	Y	Water companies:	N	Research Councils:	Y		
		(RMAs):							
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Y	Academia:	Y	Others:	N		

Partnership/collaborative working opportunities

This should be a partnership project involving the National Flood Forum, local authorities, Natural Resources Wales and the Environment Agency. There will also be opportunities to share evidence with NGOs such as Groundwork, the British Red Cross and the Trust for Conservation Volunteers (TCV) who may have relevant information. Local authorities (for example, Hillingdon Borough Council, Warwickshire County Council and Northampton County Council) have worked with flood volunteers and will be able to draw on this experience.

Possible funders (Y/N)										
Defra/	Y	RMA	Ν	UK	?	Other	?			
Environment				Research						
Agency				Council						
Other: Regional Flood and Coastal Committee										

Start year	Duration (years)
2021/22	3

4.2 Sustaining effective community and volunteer participation in FCERM

Project summary

Sustained effective¹² participation means keeping communities and RMAs working together on FCERM activities over time. Currently communities become involved in FCERM activities immediately after a flood event but their involvement can dissipate once clean-up and recovery is over. Understanding how to retain resilient community networks is important.

People that take part in activities will be more prepared for flood events, more able to recover and can potentially contribute to the resilience of their communities and places.

The literature review found that developing good relationships between RMAs and individuals and groups is an important part of resilience. Participation activities will only flourish within relationships of trust.

This project will explore what 'sustained participation' looks like for all types of participation activity, the influencing factors and how participation can be resilient. It aims to understand how people get involved in and stay involved in flood groups. It will also examine how continuity can be maintained given levels of organisational change within RMAs, which make developing sustained relationships between community members and RMAs/other organisations more challenging.

¹² 'Effectiveness' here means adhering to best practices of participation (for example, transparency, two-way communication) as well as potentially contributing to positive outcomes such as reducing the risk of flooding and reducing flood damages. The project will need to establish how different stakeholders and communities understand effectiveness.

Project summary

Sustained effective relationships between communities, RMAs and other relevant authorities is essential to the resilience of both communities and places, as set out in the FCERM strategies for England and Wales. It is hard to re-engage with people once the initial momentum has been lost.

The project also needs to find out if there are certain groups/communities that find it harder to become involved and stay involved in FCERM.

The project could start with a short review of existing literature from the UK, looking at sustained community participation in activities other than FCERM. This project should follow on from the data collection phase of project 1, as this will make it possible to categorise individuals and groups by the length of time they have been involved in FCERM.

Through the networks and data collected in project 1 we will be able to identify a number of areas in which community groups, RMAs and others are already working together, and these groups could be invited to participate in qualitative research. Action research is suited to this research topic because it allows the researchers to work alongside a wide range of groups whilst they engage in different aspects of FCERM, to identify changes in their approach to or experience of engagement and to encourage all those involved to reflect on their experience. This will provide strong evidence and could potentially be used to develop guidance on sustaining relationships between RMAs, communities and other organisations, with a view to participating in FCERM activities.

Objectives

- To examine current or recent examples of sustained participation and to define what sustained participation looks like from both an RMA and community perspective.
- To understand the role of trust and relationship development in the context of sustained participation.
- To identify the costs and benefits of sustained participation for all those involved.
- To explore the need for sustained participation in different contexts, for example, post flood, post scheme development; the barriers and facilitators to sustained participation; and the governance or institutional approaches that might support or inhibit it.
- To identify any specific barriers to and proposed approaches to encourage the sustained participation of deprived or marginalised communities.

Outputs

- The project will produce a report examining what sustained FCERM participation looks like in different contexts and analysing the contribution of sustained participation to community flood resilience.
- The project will provide evidence on:
 - o the barriers and facilitators to sustained participation
 - the governance or institutional approaches that support or inhibit sustained participation
 - the types of relationships between RMAs, communities and other organisations that encourage sustained participation
 - how RMAs and other organisations can support sustained community participation and help it change to respond to changing flood contexts and challenges.
- The project could produce a good practice guide, identifying barriers and challenges to sustained participation and describing approaches and initiatives

Outputs

that are most likely to be sustainable. This could include case studies of effective long-term participation and suggestions of how RMAs can develop relationships to enable community participation over time.

Impact

The research will help identify the factors that contribute to or hamper sustained FCERM engagement. It will collate information that RMAs and others can use in practice to maintain and develop relationships at the local level, thereby maintaining or increasing resilience. It will also focus on 'hard to reach' communities will help to address the problem of inequalities in flood resilience.

Types of research (Y/N)								
Basic:	Υ	Applied:	Y/N	Development:	Y			
Dissemination:	Ν	Training:	Ν	Implementation:	Y			

Research end users (Y/N)									
Government	Y	RMAs:	Y	Water	Y	Research	?		
depts/agencies:				companies:		Councils:			
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Y	Academia:	Y	Others:	Ν		

Partnership/collaborative working opportunities

This project should be implemented using an action research approach. There is potential for collaboration between RMAs, NGOs (for example, Groundwork, Trust for Conservation Volunteers) and community flood groups (for example, National Flood Forum and groups at the regional and local levels, for example, Cornwall Community Flood Forum and others.

Possible funders (Y/N)											
Defra/	Y	RMA	Y	UK	?	Other	?				
Environment				Research							
Agency				Council							
Other: Regional Flood and Coastal Committee											

Start year	Duration (months)
2022/23	18

4.3 Improving the flood recovery process

Project summary

The recovery process is complex and involves many different groups such as LLFAs, builders, surveyors, insurance, loss adjusters, NGOs. There is evidence from previous research (Medd et al, 2015; Lamond et al, 2019) that the recovery process leads to stress and mental health effects for those who have been flooded beyond the stress of the actual flood itself. There is a need to improve the recovery process for communities so that it causes fewer mental health effects and helps develop resilience to ensure 'better' recovery from subsequent floods.

The purpose of this project is to understand the process of recovery after flooding, including the immediate consequences of a flood, getting back into properties, dealing with practical problems as well as the longer term personal and community impacts.

Project summary

The project will examine the challenges members of communities face when trying to recover from flooding. Looking at how activities can be supported to increase personal resilience within the recovery process, especially for people who are temporarily relocated. It will examine how participation in short-term recovery can be effective so that it enables adaptation (communities can bounce back better) and not just a return to how things were before. The project will also focus on how the most vulnerable are supported.

The project will map the recovery system. It will also look at the differences between how both planned and spontaneous participation to establish how they affect the recovery of individuals (psychological, social and material) and communities. The project will also focus on the interaction between individuals, community groups and organisations with responsibilities for recovery. Understanding individual and community experiences of recovery will provide valuable information to improve future engage with such groups, ultimately ensuring people are better prepared before, during and following a flood.

The project will explore:

- How communities and partners (e.g. NGOs) view and experience flood recovery?
- How the participation of communities affects the flood recovery process. For example, does being involved with a community group before or after flooding improve recovery? Do different types of engagement affect flood recovery differently?
- How different social groups (e.g. children, young people, older people, disabled people, BAME groups) engage with the flood recovery process. Are there different experiences of being engaged in flood recovery for different social groups? Are there different ways of engaging with different social groups?
- How less well-connected and less vocal communities recover from flooding compared to communities who are better connected/more vocal
- Whether socio-economic/cultural differences lead to different recovery experiences and recovery times.
- How people who have not been directly affected by flooding been engaged in flood recovery.
- Different examples and experience of the 'recovery gap,' providing solutions that could alleviate them.

Objectives

- Describe and map the recovery process for individuals, communities, NGOs and RMAs, including actions, communications and responsibilities.
- Identify a range of scenarios where recovery is helped by engaging and interacting with informal and formal support/services.
- Using case studies, explore and evaluate different experiences of flood recovery. Including a range of different social groups, people who have been repeatedly flooded.
- Identify main lessons to be learned and good practice from the case study experiences and provide recommendations for community groups and relevant RMAs to improve recovery, tailored for different individuals/ societal groups.
- Develop training and workshops on recovery for communities, RMAs and other organisations.

Outcomes

 Better understanding of the challenges of recovery for different societal groups and the benefits of effective community engagement – better identification of the recovery gap.

Objectives

- Improvements in how community groups are able to engage with local individuals (from different societal groups) about recovery, including communities being better prepared before an event.
- Better enable effective engagement between individuals/communities experiencing flood recovery, insurance industry professionals and RMAs tasked with recovery responsibilities.

Outputs

- A map of the full recovery process within England and Wales, detailing the responsibilities and actions of each organisation, together with a definition of recovery from different perspectives (RMAs, communities and other organisations)
- Identify the range of scenarios where recovery may occur in other words, the types of experiences that might be encountered.
- Case study experience of real individuals/communities and an evaluation of how engagement with community groups, informal and formal services and different organisations have impacted on recovery.
- Recommendations/guidance for community groups, insurance industry professionals and RMAs involved in recovery about how they can improve the recovery process.
- Workshops and training for RMAs, communities, insurance industry professionals on the recovery process.

Impact

Recovering from flooding is often considered to be more stressful for those affected than the actual flood event itself. Improving the recovery process, therefore, can potentially have significant impacts on the experiences of individuals and communities affected. There is a lack of systematic information about flood recovery. A clearer understanding of how individuals and community groups help each other, interact with organisations and access support services will provide valuable information about how recovery support can be provided throughout the recovery process.

The Environment Agency has recovery procedures and a recovery manual. It has also recruited staff as flood support officers to talk to communities after a flood. This project can provide evidence to help this support and improve this process.

Types of research (Y	/N)				
Basic:	Y	Applied:	Υ	Development:	Y/N
Dissemination:	Ν	Training:	Ν	Implementation:	Y/N

Research end users (Y/N)									
Government	Y	RMAs:	Y	Water	Y/N	Research	Ν		
depts/agencies:				companies:		Councils:			
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Υ	Academia:	Y/N	Others:	Y		

Partnership/collaborative working opportunities

This project will require organisations who are involved in recovery to work together to gather evidence of how recovery is currently working and any issues. There are clear opportunities to work with existing community groups to identify best practices and to look for innovative ways in which communities are engaging and being supported in recovery. The insurance industry should also be involved.

Possible fund	ers (\	′/N)					
Defra/	Υ	RMA	Υ	UK	Ν	Other	Y
Environment				Research			
Agency				Council			
Other: Insuran	се со	mpanies					
Start year				Duration (mo	nthe)		

Start year	Duration (months)
2022/23	12

4.4 Landowner and land manager participation in NFM

Project summary

RMAs work with a range of stakeholders on land owned by others to deliver to deliver FCERM projects such as natural flood management (NFM), managed realignment and asset maintenance. These stakeholders include farmers, landowners, land managers and infrastructure providers.

This project would involve working with stakeholders to understand what effective engagement looks like from their perspective and how it could be delivered more effectively.

The project will examine the following questions:

- How do farmers, landowners, land managers and infrastructure providers make decisions about whether their land can be used to deliver FCERM activities? What are the factors that contribute to their decision-making?
- How do farmers, landowners, land managers and infrastructure providers work with communities around asset maintenance?
- What tools and approaches do RMAs need to help work with farmers, landowners, land managers and infrastructure providers to deliver FCERM activities on their land?

Objectives

- Explore the stakeholder decision-making process used when farmers, landowners and land managers are engaged over potential changes to the land they manage or own to facilitate FCERM.
- Explore the different tools and approaches for engaging farmers, landowners and land managers in discussions about flood and coastal change and how they could contribute.
- Through interviews and a survey draw out the views on how stakeholders themselves would prefer to participate in changes in land management to facilitate FCERM activities.
- Identify main lessons to learnt and good practice, identifying suitable tools and approaches to ensure stakeholder participation in changes in land management to facilitate FCERM.

Outputs

- A report examining stakeholder perception and decision making on land management and NFM.
- Identify principles and guidance on engaging farmers/landowners/land managers/infrastructure providers in land management for FCERM (Including NFM and asset management).

Impact

This research will help RMAs better understand how to work with farmers, land owners and land managers to deliver FCERM activities such as NFM and managed realignment which may affect their land. This will include information on tools and approaches that will help to improve relationships with these stakeholders and the ways of working with them. It will also help to negotiate implementation of NFM measures and sustained asset maintenance.

Types of research (Y/N)									
Basic:	Y	Applied:	Υ	Development:	Y/N				
Dissemination:	Y/N	Training:	Ν	Implementation:	Y/N				

Research end users (Y/N)									
Government	Υ	RMAs:	Y	Water	Ν	Research	Ν		
depts/agencies:				companies:		Councils:			
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Y	Academia:	Ν	Others:	Ν		

Partnership/collaborative working opportunities

There is potential to collaborate with landowner organisations (such as NFU, CLA) to scope research, which would develop evidence on the experience of participation in FCERM. Also, there could be an opportunity to collaborate with the Farming and Wildlife Advisory Group and Countryside Stewardship advisors in Natural England who have significant experience in engagement with farmers.

Possible funders (Y/N)										
Defra/	Y	RMA	Y	UK	Ν	Other	Ν			
Environment				Research						
Agency				Council						

Start year	Duration (months)
2022/23	12

4.5 Emotional and social processes of participation in FCERM

Project summary

This project will investigate the emotional and social processes of participating in FCERM and the extent to which participation might be a useful psychological strategy for communities or individuals living in an area at risk of flooding.

Being flooded causes a wide range of emotions (Medd et al., 2015). Emotions and social processes influences individual's perceptions of risk and associated coping strategies. The recovery process also causes stress and, for some, longer term anxiety and serious mental health issues. For example, Harries (2014) has shown that fitting a flood door can trigger negative emotions linked to flooding, which may prevent some people from installing property flood resilience measures. Harries' previous work has found that in some cases people can feel safer by denying that they have been flooded, as that protects their psychological sense of security.

Participation in local activities can contribute to someone's wellbeing (e.g. self-esteem, self-efficacy). Wellbeing can be created through a sense of group belonging and identifying with others, which is at the heart of building social networks within communities. Participation and belonging to a group can act as a coping mechanism

Project summary

to reduce the negative emotions associated with living with flood risk. However, participation in flood activities can also be frustrating, time consuming and remind those involved of how they have been impacted by flooding. This project is interested in whether RMAs and members of communities can work together to increase the positive aspects of participation.

The project will:

- Provide a focused summary of evidence on the role of emotional and social processes in participation in flooding and other natural hazards.
- Identify several areas at risk of flooding or recently flooded in England and Wales and carry out interviews/focus groups to gather data from members of communities who have either participated in FCERM activities or decided not to.
- Bring together members of these communities and RMAs who have participated in the research to establish how to apply the research practically

There could be a second phase to this project which would develop guidance and advice for RMAs.

Objectives

The objectives of the project are to:

- Investigate how members of at risk/flooded communities balance the negative impacts of flooding with the positive benefits of planning and volunteering. This will help understand the aspects of that participation that need to be in place to have a positive outcome?
- Understand how emotions affect (barriers and facilitators) whether someone takes part in FCERM activities (e.g. incident management, flood response and recovery and conversations about long-term adaptation).
- Explore how social identities are formed in relation to taking part in FCERM activities, specifically in areas of deprivation.
- Explore how far participation in FCERM activities acts as a strategy for coping with living in a location at risk of flooding.
- Improve ways of working between RMAs and communities by recognising the emotional and social processes experienced by those at risk of flooding.

Outcomes

 Better understanding for RMAs, members of communities and other organisations of the emotional and social processes involved in taking part in FCERM activities.

Outputs

- Report to help understand the role of emotional and social processes of taking part in FCERM.
- Practical applications of the research (for example, input into guidance/training).

Impact

Understanding emotions and influencing factors (positive and negative), will help RMAs and other organisations to better understand what motivates those who are at risk of flooding to become involved in FCERM activities.

Types of research (Y	/N)				
Basic:	Y	Applied:	Υ	Development:	Ν
Dissemination:	Ν	Training:	Ν	Implementation:	Ν

Research end use	rs (Y/	N)					
Government	Υ	RMAs:	Υ	Water	Υ	Research	Ν
depts/agencies:				companies:		Councils:	
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Y	Academia:	Y	Others:	Ν

Partnership/collaborative working opportunities

National Flood Forum, Red Cross, local flood action groups. If the project were funded by a Research Council, academics could be linked up with existing pilots such as the resilience pilots and the adaptive pathway pilots.

Possible fund	ers (Y	(/N)					
Defra/	Y	RMA	Y	UK	Υ	Other	Ν
Environment				Research			
Agency				Council			

Start year	Duration (months)
2022/23	12

4.6 Community attachment to places affected by climate change

Project summary

Climate change will alter landscapes as flooding and coastal erosion become more frequent, these changes to landscapes will be further exacerbated by sea level rise. There will be a need to have conversations with communities about the impacts of climate change on the places in which they live to understand how land is adapted and managed to improve flood resilience. Emotional attachment to a place plays an important part in people's relationships to the places in which they live. Developing ways of supporting individuals and groups with strong emotional attachments to specific places, which are changing due to the climate, is an important part of building resilience over time.

There is extensive research on 'place attachment' and 'sense of place' (defined as an emotional attachment to place). There is also evidence that when places are changed or threatened, this can impact on individuals' and communities' attachment to places and identity. This can mean people may find it hard to accept certain changes or, in extreme cases, leave a place if they need to. It is a factor that has been identified specifically in relation to conversations about long-term adaptation on the coast and coastal erosion. Place attachment is also relevant in towns and on rivers where FCERM schemes are planned that significantly affect a landscape (e.g. proposals for engineered schemes through towns). This project could involve:

- A review of current literature on place attachment in the context of flooding and other natural hazards
- Fieldwork with members of communities who live in areas at risk of flooding and coastal erosion. This could include ethnographic research (study of human society) in one place over time, investigating the processes of place attachment. Also developing case studies of different types of changing landscapes to understand place attachment in different types of location.
- developing and piloting approaches for RMAs and communities to incorporate place attachments during long-term conversations about adaptation

Objectives

The objectives of the project are to:

Objectives

- Investigate the psychological issues associated with place attachment in the context of altered, completely different or changing places
- Understand how place attachment is affected by changed in a landscape
- Assess how place attachment affects individual and group participation in conversations about long-term adaptation
- Explore how placement attachment extends beyond geographical proximity
- Explore how place attachment might be discussed during conversations with communities about long-term climate change adaptation

Outputs

- Short evidence review.
- Report on approaches and pilots.
- Discussions with RMAs and other organisations, including charities and those helping communities over time address place attachment issues as part of the development of climate change adaptation strategies

Impact

This research will help RMAs and communities have more productive conversations about long-term adaptation in the face of climate change.

Types of research (Y	(/N)		
Basic: Y	Applied: Y	Development: N	
Dissemination: N	Training: N	Implementation:	
	_	N	

Research end use	rs (Y/	N)					
Government	Y	RMAs:	Y	Water	Ν	Research	Ν
depts/agencies:				companies:		Councils:	
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Y	Academia:	Y	Others:	Ν

Partnership/collaborative working opportunities

This project could form part of a research council research call. Other partners could include the Red Cross, Local flood action groups, National Flood Forum.

Possible fund	ers (Y	(/N)					
Defra/ Environment Agency	Y	RMA	N	UK Research Council	Y	Other	N

Start year	Duration (months)
2022/23	12

4.7 Improving participation in FCERM decision making

Project summary

This project focuses on the opportunities for individuals and groups to take part in FCERM schemes and strategy decision-making. Whilst consultation is a core part of the process of developing FCERM schemes and strategies, there is little research on how individuals and groups input to these consultations and whether the process of consultation could be improved. There is considerable experience in this area, yet it

Project summary

has not been drawn together and systematically examined with a view to improving the processes. The project could focus on specific types of FCERM schemes and strategies or take a sample across a range of FCERM activities.

The project could be undertaken in 2 phases.

Phase 1 will:

- A desk-based review of the current process, drawing out the opportunities for community members to take part in FCERM schemes and strategies in England and Wales. This would include a mix of completed and ongoing consultations to see how the opportunities had been used or not, and what impact the participation has had on the scheme or strategy's development.
- Collect data via interviews with all relevant stakeholders (professionals and community representatives participating or not participating) and collect and review consultation documents.
- Develop a typology to describe different decision-making approaches and to draw out for each approach the facilitators and barriers to communities participating in the consultation, the degree of influence and the overall benefits of their engagement.
- Suggest areas for improvement and new ways of working with individuals and groups to improve decision-making using collaborative approaches.

Phase 2 will:

 Pilot new ways of working on a sample of up to 10 schemes/strategies and evaluate their effectiveness (against criteria developed in Project 1).

Objectives

- Identify what opportunities currently exist for members of communities to participate in the different stages of scheme or strategy development.
- Explore opportunities that are/are not taken up by members of communities and explain why. Examine how participation is defined by both RMAs and members of communities.
- Explore the views of both communities and professionals to better understand their opportunities to contribute to scheme or strategy development. For example, awareness of those opportunities, ability to engage (technical knowledge/language/time), the processes of decision making (representation, influence) and available resources (voluntary time, transactional costs)
- Identify different types of participation (from consultation to co-creation) that could benefit FCERM decision making. Explore how those processes work and whose views are represented.
- Explore the strengths and weaknesses of the current process in terms of participation of individuals and groups.
- Explore how the process can be improved, and what needs to change for those improvements to be put in place?

Outcomes

- New opportunities for professionals to plan and work with the relevant individuals and groups identified.
- A range of practical approaches for involving people in making decisions that could be used at all stages of developing and implementing schemes or strategies.
- RMAs better understand what motivates communities to get involved and what communications can help to improve that participation.

Outputs

- Report on main findings of good and bad practice and recommendations.
- Guidance documents for professionals, including a toolkit and 'opportunity for participation' guidance for communities.

Impact

Better informed decisions on planning engagement. A closer and stronger relationship with communities that continues after schemes and strategies have ended. Greater ownership by communities of the schemes and strategies they have helped develop with the relevant professional organisation. Ownership that includes concern and involvement in scheme and strategy monitoring and basic maintenance.

Types of research (Y	7/N)				
Basic:	Y	Applied:	Y	Development:	Υ
Dissemination:	Y	Training:	Y	Implementation:	Υ

Research end users (Y/N)								
Government	Υ	RMAs:	Υ	Water	Ν	Research	Ν	
depts/agencies:				companies:		Councils:		
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Υ	Academia:	Υ	Others:	Ν	
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Y	Academia:	Y	Others:	Ν	

Possible funders (Y/N)									
Defra/	Y	RMA	Y	UK	Ν	Other	Y		
Environment				Research					
Agency				Council					

Start Year	Duration (months)
2021/22	Phase 1 - 12 months + Phase 2 pilot time
	(availability of opportunities)

4.8 The role of community flood knowledge

Project summary

RMAs work with communities when delivering FCERM to obtain their local knowledge, improve decision-making and share information. Communities can become frustrated when RMAs don't acknowledge local knowledge about flooding or involve them in decisions that affect them locally. We need to understand how communities can build on their 'collective' memories and knowledge of flooding and share this knowledge with RMAs to improve how flood risk is managed locally.

There has been past academic research on this topic. In particular there has been a focus on the use of lay knowledge in the development of natural flood management projects (e.g. Whatmore and Landstrom, 2012; and Short et al, 2019). McEwen (2014) also developed an understanding of communities' flood memories. This project aims bring together theoretical insights from past research into lay knowledge to help understand how communities have used their local knowledge to influence different types of FCERM activities.

The next stage of the project could develop approaches to help RMAs be able to collect and incorporating local flood knowledge into the delivery of FCERM activities.

Objectives

The objectives of this project are to:

Objectives

- Understand how RMAs and communities currently capture community flood knowledge and what mechanisms are most effective in capturing this knowledge and data.
- Explore understanding and perceptions of community flood knowledge from the perspectives of communities, RMAs and local authority planners. What and whose knowledge counts? How is it shared?
- Explore the ways in which RMAs currently incorporate community flood knowledge into FCERM assessments, modelling, scheme options appraisal and decision-making.
- Understand the 'social' elements of community knowledge, the importance of the area that floods to people, and the role that place plays in community life.
- Examine how communities learn about flood risk and how they can share their knowledge with RMAs to contribute to flood risk assessments and modelling.
- Facilitate dialogue between members of communities and RMAs around local flood knowledge.

The project outcomes will be:

- Improved relationships between community members and RMAs because communities better understand the roles and responsibilities of different authorities in flood management and they know how to share their knowledge and data.
- Identifying ways for communities to share local flood knowledge so that RMAs, communities and planners can use it to inform FCERM activities.
- Understand how local knowledge can be used to improve activities such as flood mapping, modelling and flood warning.

Outputs

The outputs of the project will include:

- Evidence of how community knowledge can be used and incorporated into FCERM activities.
- Advice for RMAs on how to use and incorporate community flood knowledge into FCERM activities.
- Case studies to share examples of how local knowledge has informed FCERM activities in different communities.

Impact

- The knowledge and evidence collated by community members could be used to inform the delivery of FCERM locally within their community.
- Communities will feel their knowledge is valued and as a result this will increase their understanding of FCERM processes and buy-in to how FCERM is delivered locally.

Types of research (Y/N)									
Basic:	Ν	Applied:	Υ	Development:	Υ				
Dissemination:	Y	Training:	Ν	Implementation:	Ν				

Research end users (Y/N)								
Government	Ν	RMAs:	Υ	Water	Ν	Research	Υ	
depts/agencies:				companies:		Councils:		
Communities:	Υ	NGOs:	Ν	Academia:	Υ	Others:	Ν	

Partnership/collaborative working opportunities RMAs.

Possible funders (Y/N)										
Defra/ Environment Agency	Y	RMA	Y	UK Research Council	Y	Other	N			
Start year				Duration (mo	onths)					
2022/23				18						

4.9 Characteristics of RMAs which influence participation in FCERM

Project summary

Institutional trust and buy-in are important aspects in the successful participation of individuals and groups in FCERM. Institutional practices and cultures can affect this trust which can in turn influence whether a community of an individual decides to participate in FCERM.

This project will develop a detailed understanding of different RMAs involved in FCERM and how that affects the extent, nature and influence of participation. Drawing on experience, good practice will be drawn out to structure and develop organisations in terms of processes and skills, to enable participation or even remove barriers. This will also provide understanding of why some parts of organisations might be more effective at taking part in FCERM activities than others. It will also be an opportunity to show those RMAs how they are perceived by communities in terms of participation in FCERM. This might mean RMAs have to develop (or further develop) dedicated engagement roles, resources and improve staff skills to build capabilities and confidence to change. This, in turn, may influence deeper cultural change.

The project will involve first identifying and designing a target sample of communities and their representatives based on different FCERM challenges and engagement successes across England and Wales. Evidence on RMAs' practices and culture will be collected using a questionnaire survey. Survey responses will be further explored and supported by interviews. Both the survey and interviews will gather the views of communities on the kinds of institutional practices that facilitate/inhibit their involvement. This work will be further supported by collaborative workshops in selected locations based on important characteristics and issues revealed in the research. The workshops will enable RMAs and communities to hear from each other and then work together to create conditions within organisations that encourages further participation in FCERM.

Objectives

- Identify the characteristics of institutions (for example, RMAs) that facilitate or inhibit participation with individual members of the public and groups.
- Explore how organisational cultures, including language used by RMAs facilitate or inhibit participation across the FCERM activities.
- Identify the characteristics and role of trust in influencing participation across the FCERM activities.
- Explore in what ways individuals and groups in flood risk areas perceive the structures and processes of RMAs and their ability to enable effective participation. This includes perceived roles and responsibilities.

Outcomes

- An evidence based understanding of community perceptions of the RMA organisation.
- Clarity on main challenges RMAs face in improving participation.
- Guidance for RMAs on where to better direct resources to improve participation.

Outputs

Report with recommendations on how to improve participation, remove barriers and increase trust. Understand how RMA cultures/language/structures can be improved to encourage more public participation in FCERM. This will be based on the voices of communities themselves and how they would like to participate.

Impact

Inform training or guidance for RMAs to improve community participation in FCERM.

Types of research (Y/N)								
Basic:	Y	Applied:	Ν	Development:	Υ			
Dissemination:	Y	Training:	Y	Implementation:	Ν			

Research end users (Y/N)									
Government	Y	RMAs:	Y	Water	Ν	Research	Ν		
depts/agencies:				companies:		Councils:			
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Ν	Academia:	Y	Others:	Υ		

Partnership/collaborative working opportunities

National Flood Forum membership input and RMA training initiatives.

Possible funders (Y/N)											
Defra/ Environment Agency	Y	RMA	Y	UK Research Council	N	Other	N				
Start year		Duration (mo	nths)								
2021/22				24							

4.10 Assessing the costs and benefits of participating in FCERM

Project summary

This project will develop a framework for assessing the costs and benefits associated with individuals and groups taking part in FCERM. It will investigate the value (not just financial) of public participation in FCERM for RMAs, local communities and others involved.

Involving communities in FCERM decision-making leads to better decision-making, increased trust (in authorities) and increased local knowledge (Involve, 2005). Members of communities benefit from being involved in FCERM activities because this enables them to influence decisions that affect the places they live and work in, it enables their voices to be heard and also enables them to share their local knowledge. Participating in FCERM also has costs associated with it (e.g. time, resources, and psychological impact). Having a systematic approach which helps to establish the costs and benefits associated participation will help RMAs justify the importance of community participation in FCERM activities.

The project will develop an understanding of the costs and multiple benefits of taking part in FCERM activities. It will also develop an approach to working out the financial value of the identified costs and benefits.

The project will:

- Summarise evidence on costs and benefits of participation in FCERM activities
- Collect evidence of different approaches to assessing costs and benefits of participation. This may need to draw on literature and examples from outside of the field of FCERM.
- Develop an approach for assessing the costs and benefits of participating in FCERM and test it on case study examples using data from selected RMAs and community groups
- Investigate how to put a monetary value on the costs and benefits of taking part in FCERM and trial different ways of doing this using case study examples
- Develop workshops and training for RMAs, communities and other organisations to share findings from this study and use these events to develop guidance on assessing costs and benefits of participation

Objectives

- What are the individual, social and material costs and benefits of taking part in FCERM activities for individual members of the public, community groups and RMAs?
- How can the costs and benefits of the different participation activities be measured?
- What evidence is needed so that these costs and benefits can be integrated into FCERM appraisal and investment decisions?

Outputs

- An approach for assessing the costs and benefits of taking part in FCERM activities.
- An understanding of the total costs and benefits of communities participating in FCERM.
- Develop approaches to help place a financial value on the costs and benefits of taking part in FCERM activities. Test approaches on different case study examples.
- Develop consistent ways of calculating the costs and benefits of participation, show a breakdown of costs and benefits for different activity types.
- Training, guidance and workshops for RMAs, communities and other organisations on how to calculate the costs and benefits of participation.

Impact

If costs and benefits of participation can be measured, then they can be accounted for by staff in RMAs and other organisations. If a way of measuring costs and benefits can be found, this could be included in the FCERM appraisal process.

Types of research (Y/N)								
Basic:	Υ	Applied:	Υ	Development:	Υ			
Dissemination:	Ν	Training:	Ν	Implementation:	Ν			

Research end users (Y/N)									
Government	Y	RMAs:	Y	Water	?	Research	Ν		
depts/agencies:				companies:		Councils:			
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Ν	Academia:	N	Others:	Ν		

Possible funders (Y/N)									
Defra/ Environment Agency	Y	RMA	Y	UK Research Council	N	Other	N		
Stort Voor				Duration (m	onthe				

24

4.11 Effective community leadership in FCERM

Project summary

2023

Members of at-risk communities can find it difficult to take part in FCERM activities in the absence of effective local community leadership by an individual or a group. This leadership helps to create and maintain high quality participation, with communities helping to produce community flood plans. Effective community leadership also ensures continuity so that a community's participation is sustained and their flood plan is kept up to date over time. Participation and its continuity over time often depends on one or a small number of important individuals. Once lost, community engagement is difficult to re-establish and can lead to a local flood group disbanding. For RMAs it can be hard to develop good relationship with an at-risk community in the absence of recognised and effective local community leader. This leadership has an important role to play in raising community needs, demands and ensuring preparedness for a flood.

There has been limited research in to FCERM community leadership. Not enough is known about individuals or leadership groups to understand what makes them effective or ineffective. Effective community leadership can be even more challenging in communities with socio-economic disadvantage/deprivation and/or in communities without a coherent identity.

This project could include:

- Working with local community leaders and RMAs to develop a series of case studies that examine what factors have led to effective community leadership
- Interviews with leaders to better understand what factors made their leadership effective. The outcomes of these interviews will be reviewed against existing models of effective leadership to establish if there are preferred/more suitable leadership models.

Project summary

 Creating and disseminating a good practice guide and a mentoring guide on effective FCERM community leadership. These guides would be piloted to get feedback.

Objectives

The objectives are to find out:

- What has led to effective and successful community leadership in at-risk communities?
- Who provided effective leadership and what are their attributes and qualities (e.g. backgrounds, skill sets, experiences, motivations)?
- How they went about their leadership task; what styles of leadership did they use (for example, autocratic, democratic); how they retained volunteers; how they overcame obstacles and took people with them; how they communicated both with members of the community and RMAs and other involved parties
- What they and others believe was been important in providing effective leadership.
- The approaches that they used to ensure leadership continuity and sustained participation over time.
- The characteristics of effective FCERM local community leadership which actively engages community members in FCERM.

Outputs

- Case studies of effective FCERM community leadership, identifying the:
 - Characteristics and styles of effective leadership in preparedness, response and recovery and community transformation
 - o Approaches required to sustain community participation over time
 - Approaches that can be taken to engage disadvantaged communities and ones without a coherent identify.
- A tested good practice guide and mentoring guide on effective FCERM community leadership.

Impact

- Improved local community flood plans, better awareness, response and recovery as a consequence, and fewer gaps in plan coverage.
- Improved continuity of community engagement with RMAs and updating of local community flood plans.
- Fewer at-risk communities without effective community leadership.
- Better participation in at-risk disadvantaged communities and ones without coherent identity.
- Ultimately, reduced flood impacts and more satisfied at-risk communities.

Types of research (Y/N)								
Basic:	Y	Applied:	Υ	Development:	Ν			
Dissemination:	Y	Training:	Y	Implementation:	Ν			

Research end users (Y/N)									
Government	Y	RMAs:	Υ	Water	Ν	Research	Ν		
depts/agencies:				companies:		Councils:			
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Y	Academia:	Ν	Others:	Ν		

Partnership/collaborative working opportunities

Potential collaboration with National Flood Forum, selected local flood groups, community councils.

Possible funders (Y/N)							
Defra/	Υ	RMA	Υ	UK	Ν	Other	Ν
Environment				Research			
Agency				Council			
Start year				Duration (mo	nths)		
2023/24				12			

4.12 Enabling community maintenance for local flood risk management

Project summary

Community resilience to flood risks is essential, there is potential for them to become climate champions and get actively involved in the management of their flood risk. This project will explore approaches to enable and empower local community groups to undertake simple maintenance of local flood risk management infrastructure (surface water and ordinary watercourses).

Some community groups are willing and able to manage their own flood risk and are capable of maintaining their own flood risk management assets, or are able to 'top-up' maintenance by RMAs if they are willing and actively enabled to do so. Environmental NGOs (e.g. River Trusts, Wildlife Trusts, RSPB, WWT) and organisations like The Conservation Volunteers (was BTCV) regularly run sessions where volunteers and communities undertake simple landscaping activities in their communities

The FCERM strategies identify the potential for communities, and voluntary groups to become involved in appropriate operational and maintenance activities normally the sole responsibility of Risk Management Authorities (RMAs) through in-kind (i.e. time) contributions. These local contributions for local flood risk management (surface water and ordinary watercourses) are likely to be akin to simple gardening or DIY tasks and do not require specific skills, or specialist equipment. Some community groups are already undertaking maintenance and they would benefit from RMAs understanding how to more effectively work with them and provide support by having clearer protocols, guidance and training to enable community-led maintenance.

RMAs are required to make efficiencies and savings on operating costs to respond to budget constraints and investment allocations. Government is also committed to decentralise FCERM in England and Wales and to work collaboratively with RMAs and local communities. Enabling community maintenance can assist with this and fits in with the Government's localism agenda. However, it is important to have the right people managing the right assets in the right way with the right support from RMAs. Local flood risk management approaches like SuDS and NFM where runoff is often managed on the surface and with more natural and vegetative approaches provides a significant opportunity for routine maintenance by communities.

Research suggests that tasks like debris clearance and conveyance management for streams could be undertaken. Simple maintenance of local flood risk management infrastructure and SuDS using techniques such as vegetation management and grass cutting can also be achieved. The research also suggested that community maintenance can also be undertaken by:

Project summary

- Encouraging local communities to influence their local environment through maintenance of the flood risk management assets, aligning management regimes to their passion for the local community and places.
- Formalising commitments for long-term, ongoing routine maintenance through local councils and other democratic institutions (e.g. parish councils)
- Provision of insurance for community groups (e.g. Zurich scheme available through BTCV)
- Simplified consenting procedures

This project would be de a two phased project to develop a framework and supporting guidance for the implementation of collaborative community-led approaches to FCERM maintenance activities (and any associated funding mechanisms). This would cover:

- Identification of the behaviours, processes and procedures to enable routine community operation and maintenance activities;
- Identification and description of the range of activities that can be carried out by community groups and more detailed guidance for common activities such as: risk assessment process for all activities; weed and debris clearance from streams; vegetation management including embankment and swale grass cutting; weed/invasive species management; litter picking and; inspecting and clearing inlets and outlets; and operating simple flood gates;
- Identification of specific training and guidance needs both for the community groups and those working within RMAs;
- Identification of a process for monitoring the activities carried out by communities.

Objectives

The overall objective of the project is to provide a framework of principles and guidance to enable community groups (possibly facilitated by Third Sector organisations) to deliver routine maintenance and asset management activities. The specific objectives include.

- Engage with relevant stakeholders to understand the challenges and opportunities of enabling community maintenance of local flood risk management infrastructure.
- Undertake a review of case studies, practices and experience related to community maintenance of flood risk management assets to determine challenges, opportunities and good practice.
- To develop and engage on a principles document for RMAs and community groups providing high-level guidance to support community maintenance and asset management activities
- To develop separate guidance for policy makers, RMA practitioners and local community groups that help interpret and implement these principles. The guidance documents will:
 - o set the policy level context for the work
 - define procedures for determining the right level and frequency of maintenance (defined frequency vs ad-hoc)
 - capture and appropriately present the good practice and lessons learnt where community groups have delivered routine maintenance and asset management tasks and/or paid others to carry out maintenance (e.g. for trash screen clearance); and
 - identify the processes and procedures that would be necessary to set up and deliver such arrangements routinely,

Objectives

- identify the specific training and guidance needs both for the community groups and for FCRM staff, including provision of 1-2 page guides to at least the following: risk assessment process for all activities; weed and debris clearance from streams; embankment or SuDS vegetation management, checking of SuDS inlets and outlets and weed/invasive species management;
- identifies a process, tools and guidance for community-led visual condition assessment
- Disseminate the guidance to a wide audience.

Outputs

Outputs would include:

- Principles document this will present case studies and capture the good practice from the case studies as principles for RMAs and community groups. (First phase of the project)
- Guidance for RMAs focused on approaches to facilitating and enabling community groups to undertake maintenance within the policy context and inclusion of good practice.
- Guidance for community groups outlining approaches, and maintenance activities for specific flood risk management assets.
- Short policy briefing document for policy makers setting out the reasons for progressing community maintenance

The guidance documents will provide an overview of the policy context setting out how it can influence the approach to enabling and empowering community groups to maintain flood management assets. It will also summarise the key success factors, lessons learnt from case studies. The processes and procedures that would be required to enable and empower communities to undertake maintenance will also be included.

Impact

Community groups and RMAs are likely to be the primary beneficiaries of the guidance. Many of the benefits would be shared by them, however specific benefits are:

Benefits for community groups include:

- Actively managing their flood risks community groups would be empowered and enabled to manage flood risks and to improve their local environment.
- Easy to use guidance on maintenance approaches to maintaining local flood risk management infrastructure will be developed enabling communities to take an active role in maintenance.
- Improving a shared understanding guidance written for community groups and RMAs on approaches to manage flood risks will provide opportunities to share an understanding of flood risk management and approaches to enhance the local environment.
- Developing successful and longer-term relationships with RMAs expectation of RMAs and communities will be better appreciated by each other. The concerns and potential contribution of community groups will also be better understood.

Benefits for RMAs include:

Impact

- Enabling community maintenance 'success factors' for establishing good procedures and working practices to enable community-led maintenance will be shared.
- Delivery of multiple benefits the involvement of communities to manage flood risk assets may help deliver multiple benefits through improving the guality of places and spaces, amenity and improving local social cohesion.
- Savings in operational and maintenance budgets community maintenance will enable RMAs to more cost-effectively manage their flood risk management infrastructure that may otherwise be uneconomic to maintain.

Types of research (Y	7N)				
Basic:	Ν	Applied:	Υ	Development:	Y
Dissemination:	Υ	Training:	Y	Implementation:	Y

Research end users (Y/N)							
Government	Y	RMAs:	Y	Water	Y	Research	Ν
depts/agencies:				companies:		Councils:	
Communities:	Y	NGOs:	Y	Academia:	Ν	Others:	Υ

Partnership/collaborative working opportunities

- Environment Agency, Natural Resources Wales and SEPA
- Risk management authorities
 - Lead Local Flood Authorities
 - Water and Sewerage Companies
 - Highways England
 - o IDBs

- Private, riparian landowners
- Community flood resilience groups
- Rivers Trusts, Wildlife Trusts
- Other relevant Third Sector Groups

Possible funders (Y/N)							
Defra/	Υ	RMA	Υ	UK	Ν	Other	Y
Environment				Research			
Agency				Council			
Other: Highways authorities; developers. CIRIA could help to coordinate funding.							

Start year	Duration (months)
Started summer 2020	12-18

5 **Rolling out and funding the framework**

Previous chapters have set up the process we went through to develop this research framework setting out the process of:

- gathering evidence (Chapter 2)
- assessing evidence and identifying gaps in research (Chapter 3)
- prioritising projects (Chapter 4)

This chapter builds on these earlier stages, discussing potential sources of funding, the links between projects and the potential order in which these projects could be rolled out.

5.1 **Potential sources of funding and rollout**

There are different potential sources of funding to complete the projects discussed in chapter 4 (see Table 5.1) The Defra/Environment Agency Joint FCERM R&D programme may be able to carry out some of the projects. However, other projects may be best carried out by other non-governmental funders or through academic research.

Projects 5 and 6 would be best carried out by academia and may be of interest to Research Councils.

There are other organisations who it would be useful to contact to see if there are synergies with this framework such as Public Health England, Public Health Wales, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, the Cabinet Office, and the Wellcome Foundation.

Potential sources of funding	Summary
Research Councils	ESRC open call social science research grants from £350,000 to £1 million.
	Strategic Priorities Fund.
	Global Challenges Research Fund.
	NERC Environmental Risks to Infrastructure Innovation Programme (ERIIP) is a five-year (started 2017), £5 million initiative (infrastructure sector focused)
Defra/Environment Agency/Welsh Government/Natural Resources Wales	Joint FCERM R&D programme.
Regional Flood and Coastal Committees	There are cases where local levy funding has been used to fund community engagement work.
CIRIA	CIRIA has carried out collaborative projects – it collaborates with a range of partners to help fund and roll out priority projects.
National Lottery Community Fund (needs to be led by a charity or local authority)	Much of the funding is focused on supporting charities affected by or directly involved with COVID-19.
National Heritage Lottery Fund (needs to be led by a charity or local authority)	Suspended until winter 2020 except for emergency funding. But possible after that – main categories: culture and memory; community heritage.

Table 5.1 Sources of funding

5.2 **Project timings and interdependencies**

Out of the 12 proposed research projects some of them are interrelated and there is, therefore, merit in carrying them out in a specific order as set out in Figure 5.1.

Project 1 (Evaluating effectiveness) would need to run for up to 3 years.

Project 3 (Improving recovery) should ideally start at the same time as Project 1 because there are synergies between the two project and by delivering the two project at a similar time helps target relevant case studies.

Project 9 (RMAs and participation) is linked with Project 1, so starting this project early is necessary to connect the 2 projects.

Project 10 is linked to Projects 1, 2, 3 and 5 as information on costs and benefits will emerge from those projects. Project 10 will provide a systematic approach to identifying costs and benefits. Providing it earlier within this framework would be useful as it would help understand the benefits and costs of those projects.

Project 7 (Participation in decision-making) should be linked into those teams working on rolling out FCERM capital projects across England and Wales. Participation in scheme decision-making has not been examined systematically in any recent research, making it a priority.

Project 4 (Landowners/managers and NFM) should build on the findings of the Defrafunded NFM programme.

Project 2 (Sustaining participation) is linked to Project 1 and it is suggested that it is started at the end of the first year of Project 1. This would allow case studies to be identified to use in the research. Project 11 would need to be informed by Project 2 and it would, therefore, be worth considering if the 2 projects could be combined as they both focus on inequalities and improving participation in areas of deprivation.

Project 5 (Emotional and social processes) and Project 6 (place attachment) are related and could be combined to form a larger project which might be suitable for Research Council funding.

Project 12 (Community maintenance) has already attracted funding from CIRIA and a Lead local flood authority and is at an early scoping stage.

5.3 **Rollout and monitoring progress**

Once this framework is published and rolled out, Defra and the Environment Agency will seek opportunities to fund proposed research projects themselves and influence other organisations to see if they could potentially carry out research outside of the public sector.

As the framework starts to be rolled out, progress in carrying out the projects set out in this framework will be tracked by the Defra/Environment Agency joint programme and their associated advisory groups.



Figure 5.1 Suggested order for rolling out the projects

Communities and flood and coastal erosion risk management R&D framework

6 Conclusions and next steps

This report has described a series of steps (Figure 6.1) that we have gone through to help us identify and prioritise future FCERM and social science research. This has resulted in identifying and prioritising 12 future research projects (see Chapter 4). The next step is to share the results of this research and to find ways of funding and advancing it.

Figure 6.1 Steps in developing the framework and the main outputs



References

AMBROSE-OJI, B., O'BRIEN, L., MORRIS, J., WILLIAMS, R. (2015) FCERM volunteer baseline data and typology development. Report – SC120013/R1. Published by the Environment Agency.

ARNSTEIN, S. (1969) A Ladder of Citizen Participation. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, Vol. 35, No. 4, July 1969, pp. 216-224.

BARNES, M. AND SCHMITZ, P. (2016) Community engagement matters (now more than ever) Stanford Social Innovation Review, 14(2), pp.32-39.

BEGG, C., CALLSEN, I., KUHLICKE, C. AND KELMAN, I. (2018) The role of local stakeholder participation in flood defence decisions in the United Kingdom and Germany. *Journal of Flood Risk Management* 11. Pp.180–190.

BEGG, C., WALKER, G., KUHLICKE, C. (2015) Localism and flood risk management in England: the creation of new inequalities? *Environment and Planning C: Government and Policy*, 33, pp.685–702.

BENNETT-LLOYD, P., BRISLEY, R., GODDARD, S AND SMITH S. (2019) Fairbourne Coastal Risk Management Learning Project. Cardiff: Welsh Government.

BENSON, D., FRITSCH, O. AND LANGSTAFF, L. (2018) Local flood risk management strategies in England: patterns of application. *Journal of Flood Risk Management*. 11, pp. 827-S837.

BOEUF, B. AND FRITSCH, O. (2016) Studying the implementation of the Water Framework Directive in Europe: a meta-analysis of 89 journal articles. *Ecology and Society*, 21(2)

BURGESS-GAMBLE, L., NGAI, R., WILKINSON, M., NISBET, T., PONTEE, N., HARVEY, R., KIPLING, K., ADDY, S., ROSE, S., MASLEN, S., JAY, H., NICHOLSON, A. PAGE, T., JONCZYK, J. AND QUINN, P. (2017) Working with natural processes – Evidence Directory. Horizon House, Bristol.

COTTON, J., ORR, P., TWIGGER-ROSS, C., STEEL, M., FORREST. S., AND BROOKS, K. (2014) What does flood risk mean? Innovation in Risk Communications. Paper at Second International Conference on Vulnerability and Risk Analysis and Management (ICVRAM) and the Sixth International Symposium on Uncertainty, Modelling, and Analysis (ISUMA)

DEFRA (2014) Post-Installation Effectiveness of Property Level Flood Protection. Final report FD2668 London: Defra.

DEFRA (2016) The Property Flood Resilience Action Plan: An action plan to enable better uptake of resilience measures for properties at high flood risk. London: Defra.

DEFRA (2018) A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment. London: Defra.

DEFRA (2019) Boosting action to make homes and buildings more resilient to floods – Strategic Programme Evaluation of Property Flood Resilience (PFR) Pathfinders Invitation to Tender (ITT) London: Defra.

DEFRA (2020) Flood and coastal erosion risk management: Policy Statement London: Defra.

DITTRICH, R., WREFORD, A., BUTLER, A. AND MORAN, D. (2016) The impact of flood action groups on the uptake of flood management measures. *Climatic Change*, 138: 471–489.

ENVIRONMENT AGENCY (2020) National Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy for England. Bristol: Environment Agency.

EVERETT, G., LAMOND, J. (2013) Household behaviour in installing property-level flood adaptations: A literature review. *WIT Transactions on Ecology and the Environment*, 179(1), pp. 511-522.

EVERETT, G., AND LAMOND, J.E. (2014) A conceptual framework for understanding behaviours and attitudes around 'Blue-Green' approaches to flood-risk management. Flood Recovery, Innovation and Response IV, 184, pp.101.

EVERETT, G., AND LAMOND, J.E. (2018) Considering the value of community engagement for (co-)producing blue–green infrastructure. In Hernández, S., Mambretti, S., Proverbs, D and Puertas, J. (Eds.), *Urban Water Systems & Floods* IIWIT Press.

FAMUDITI, T., BRAY, M., POTTS, J., BAILY, B. AND INKPEN, R. (2018) Adaptive management and community reaction: The activities of *Marine Policy*, *97*, pp. 270-277.

FANKHAUSER, S., DE MENEZES, A AND OPACIC, N. (2019) UK Research on the social science of climate change – A synthesis of ESRC and related investments. Policy Report. Place-Based Climate Action Network, London School of Economics and Political Science.

FERNÁNDEZ-BILBAO, A., WOODIN, S., RICHARDSON, J., ZSAMBOKY, M., BOSE, S., ORR, P., TWIGGER-ROSS, C. AND COLBOURNE, L. (2009) Understanding the Process for Community Adaptation Planning and Engagement (CAPE) on the Coast. R&D Technical Report FD2624/TR. Report prepared by Defra, November 2009.

FISHER, H. (2015) Public dialogues on flood risk communication. Final Report. Bristol: Environment Agency.

FORREST, S., TRELL, E-M., AND WOLTJER, J. (2018) Civil society contributions to local level flood resilience: Before, during and after the 2015 Boxing Day floods in the Upper Calder Valley. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 44, pp.422–436.

HARRIES, T. (2008) Feeling secure or being secure? Why it can seem better not to protect yourself against a natural hazard. *Health, Risk and Society* 10, pp. 479-490.

HARRIES, T. (2009) Review of the Pilot Flood Protection Grant Scheme in a Recently Flooded Area R&D Technical Report FD2651/TR London: Defra.

HARRIES, T. (2012) The anticipated emotional consequences of adaptive behaviour - impacts on the take-up of household flood protection measures. *Environment and Planning* 44, pp.649-668.

HM GOVERNMENT. (2010) Floods and Water Management Act, 2010. London.

HOLSTEAD K.L., KENYON, W., ROUILLARD, J.J., HOPKINS, J. AND GALÁN-DÍAZ, C. (2017) Natural flood management from the farmer's perspective: criteria that affect uptake. *Journal of Flood Risk Management.* 10, pp. 205–218.

INVOLVE. (n.d) Making a difference: a guide to evaluating public participation in Central Government. London: Involve.

JOSEPH, R., PROVERBS, D. AND LAMOND, J. (2014) Resilient reinstatement: What can we learn from the 2007 flooding in England? *WIT Transactions on Ecology and the Environment*, 184, pp.175-186.

KELLY, R. AND KELLY, U. (2019) Community engagement on climate adaptation – an evidence review. Environment Agency, Horizon House, Bristol.

LAMOND, J., HARRIES, T., TWIGGER-ROSS, C., ROSE, C. AND DHONAU, M. (2019) Supporting the uptake of resilient repair in the recovery process (FD2706): Final Report. London: Defra.

LAMOND, J., MCEWEN, L., ROSE, C., WRAGG, A., JOSEPH, R., TWIGGER-ROSS, C., PAPADOPOULOU, L., WHITE, O., DHONAU, M.; PROVERBS, D. (2017) Supporting the uptake of low cost resilience for properties at risk of flooding (FD2682) Final Report. London: Defra.

LAVERS, T. AND CHARLESWORTH, S. (2018) Opportunity mapping of natural flood management measures: a case study from the headwaters of the Warwickshire-Avon. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, *25*(20), pp.19313-19322.

MAIDEN, T., ANDERSON, M., KIRKUP, B., FAWCETT, J., WILSON, N. & OGUNYOYE, F. (2017) Evaluation of the arrangements for managing local flood risk in England: Final Report. Report prepared by Defra January 2017.

MASKREY S, MOUNT N, THORNE C, & DRYDEN I. (2016) Participatory modelling for stakeholder involvement in the development of flood risk management intervention options. *Environmental Modelling and Software* 82: pp.275-294.

MCEWEN, L., GARDE-HANSEN, J., HOLMES, A., JONES, O., AND KRAUSE, F. (2017) Sustainable flood memories, lay knowledges and the development of community resilience to future flood risk. Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers Vol. 42, Issue 1.

MEDD, W., DEEMING, H., WALKER, G., WHITTLE, R., MORT, M., TWIGGER-ROSS, C., WALKER, M., WATSON, N., AND KASHEFI, E. (2015) The flood recovery gap: A real-time study of local recovery following the floods of June 2007 in Hull, North East England. *Journal of Flood Risk Management*, December 8(4), pp. 315-328.

MEES, H., CRABBÉ, A., ALEXANDER, M., KAUFMANN, M., BRUZZONE, S., LÉVY, L AND LEWANDOWSKI, J. (2016) Coproducing flood risk management through citizen involvement insights from cross-country comparison in Europe. *Ecology and Society* 21(3), pp. 7.

MEHRING, P., GEOGHEGAN, H., CLOKE, H. L. AND CLARK, J. M. (2018) What is going wrong with community engagement? How flood communities and flood authorities construct engagement and partnership working. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 89, pp. 109–115.

MOON, J., FLANNERY, W. AND REVEZ, A. (2017) Discourse and practice of participatory flood risk management in Belfast, UK. *Land Use Policy* 63, pp. 408–417.

MOORES, AJ. AND REES, JG. (EDS.) (2011) UK Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Research Strategy. Living With Environmental Change.

O'BRIEN, L., EDWARDS, D., AMBROSE-OJI, B., MORRIS, J. AND WILLIAMS, R. (2014) Volunteers' contribution to flood resilience. Published by the Environment Agency and Forest Research.

ORR, P., TWIGGER-ROSS, C., BROOKS, K., SADAUSKIS, R. (2016) 'Pieces of kit' are not enough: the role of infrastructure in community resilience. ES Web of Conferences 7, 08009. FLOODrisk 2016 – 3rd European Conference on Risk Management.

OWUSU, S., WRIGHT, G. AND ARTHUR, S. (2015) Public attitudes towards flooding and property-level flood protection measures. *Natural Hazards* 77, pp. 1963–1978.

PITT (2008) Pitt Review: Learning Lessons from the 2007 Floods.

POTTER, K., VILCAN, T. (2020) Managing urban flood resilience through the English planning system: insights from the 'SuDS-face'. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A*, *378*(2168), p.20190206.

PRIEST ET AL, (forthcoming) Governance for FCERM. Environment Agency project

ROSE, C., LAMOND, J., DHONAU, M., JOSEPH, R., AND PROVERBS, D. (2016) Improving the uptake of flood resilience at the individual property level. *International Journal of Safety and Security Engineering.* Vol.6 No.3 pp 607 – 615.

SHORT, C., CLARKE, L., CARNELLI, F., UTTLEY, C., SMITH, B. (2019) Capturing the multiple benefits associated with nature-based solutions: Lessons from a natural flood management project in the Cotswolds, UK. *Land Degradation and Development Journal*, 30 pp. 241-252.

SIMM, J. (2015) Direct Action Self-Help (DASH) Groups in UK Flood Risk Management. FLOOD*risk* 2016 - 3rd European Conference on Flood Risk Management.

SIMS, R, MEDD, M., MORT, M AND TWIGGER-ROSS, C. (2009) When a "home" becomes a "house": care and caring in the flood recovery process. *Space and Culture*, 12 (3), pp. 303-316.

SMITH, B, CLIFFORD, N.J, MANT, J. (2014) The changing nature of river restoration. *WIREs WATER* 1(3), pp. 249–261. DOI:10.1002/wat2.1021.

SMITH, J., AND BOND, A. (2018) Delivering more inclusive public participation in coastal flood management: A case study in Suffolk, UK. *Ocean and Coastal Management*, 161, pp. 147–155.

THALER, T., LEVIN-KEITEL, M. (2016) Multi-level stakeholder engagement in flood risk management—A question of roles and power: Lessons from England. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 55, pp. 292-301.

TWIGGER-ROSS, C., KASHEFI, E., WELDON, S., BROOKS, K, DEEMING, HUGH, FORREST, S., FIELDING, J., GOMERSALL, A., HARRIES, T., MCCARTHY, S., ORR, P., PARKER, D. AND TAPSELL, S. (2014) Flood Resilience Community Pathfinder Evaluation: Rapid Evidence Assessment. Project Report. London: Defra.

TWIGGER-ROSS, C., ORR, P., BROOKS, K., SADAUSKIS, R., DEEMING, H., FIELDING, J., HARRIES, T., JOHNSTON, R., KASHEFI, E., MCCARTHY, S., REES, Y. AND TAPSELL, S. (2015) Flood Resilience Community Pathfinder evaluation: Final Report FD 1664, Joint Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Research and Development Programme, London: Defra.

TWIGGER-ROSS, C., ORR, P., KOLARIC, S., PARKER, D., FLIKWEERT, J AND PRIEST, S. (2020) Evidence Review of the Concept of Flood Resilience: Final Report FD2716 for Defra. London: Defra.

UK CLIMATE RESILIENCE PROGRAMME. (2018) Joint UKRI & Met Office Science Plan. <u>NERC UK Climate Resilience Programme</u>. [Accessed 09 December 2020].

WARWICKSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL (2015) Warwickshire Community Flood Resilience Pathfinder Project Final Report. Available at: National Flood Forum webpage [Accessed 09 December 2020]. WAYLEN, K. A., HOLSTEAD, K. L., COLLEY, K., HOPKINS, J. (2018) Challenges to enabling and implementing Natural Flood Management in Scotland. *Journal of Flood Risk Management*, 11, pp. 1078–1089.

WELSH GOVERNMENT (2020) National Strategy for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management in Wales.

WHATMORE S.J. AND LANDSTRÖM, C. (2011) Flood apprentices: an exercise in making things public, *Economy and Society*, 40:4, 582-610.

WEHN, U., RUSCA, M., EVERS, J., LANFRANCHI, V. (2018) Participation in flood risk management and the potential of citizen observatories: A governance analysis. *Environmental Science and Policy*, 48, 225-236.

YOUNG, E., MUIR, D., DAWSON, A., DAWSON, S. (2014) Community driven coastal management: An example of the implementation of a coastal defence bund on South Uist, Scottish Outer Hebrides. *Ocean & Coastal Management*, *94*, pp.30-37.

Acronyms

BID	Business improvement district				
CAG	Coastal Action Group				
CEP	Collingwood Environmental Planning				
EDD	Engage, deliberate, decide				
DASH group	Direct action self-help group				
Defra	Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs				
FCERM	Flood and coastal erosion risk management				
FFC	Fairbourne Facing Change				
FRMP	Flood risk management plan				
FWMA	Flood and Water Management Act (2010)				
ISM	Individual, social, material				
LLFAs	Lead local flood authorities				
NFF	National Flood Forum				
NFM	Natural flood management				
NGO	Non-governmental organisation				
PICO	Problem/Patient/Population, Intervention/Indicator, Comparison, Outcome and Time/Type of study				
PFR	Property flood resilience				
RMAs	Risk management authorities				
SMEs	Small and medium-sized enterprises				
SMP	Shoreline management plan				
SuDS	Sustainable urban drainage system				

Would you like to find out more about us or about your environment?

Then call us on 03708 506 506 (Monday to Friday, 8am to 6pm)

email enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk

or visit our website www.gov.uk/environment-agency

incident hotline 0800 807060 (24 hours) floodline 0345 988 1188 / 0845 988 1188 (24 hours)

Find out about call charges (www.gov.uk/call-charges)



Environment first: Are you viewing this on screen? Please consider the environment and only print if absolutely recessary. If you are reading a paper copy, please don't forget to reuse and recycle if possible.